TYPE 1 FIMBRIAL ADHESIN IN HOST INTERACTION

THE TYPE 1 FIMBRIAL ADHESIN MEDIATES THE INTERACTION OF ADHERENT-INVASIVE *ESCHERICHIA COLI* WITH THE HOST

By LAUREN ELIZABETH WALLAR, HON. B.SC.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Lauren Elizabeth Wallar, August 2012

McMaster University MASTER OF SCIENCE (2012) Hamilton, Ontario (Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences)

TITLE: The Type 1 Fimbrial Adhesin Mediates the Interaction of Adherent-Invasive *Escherichia Coli* with the Host AUTHOR: Lauren Elizabeth Wallar, Hon. B.Sc.
 (McMaster University) SUPERVISOR: Dr. Brian K. Coombes NUMBER OF PAGES: ix, 79

ABSTRACT

Crohn's Disease is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease characterized by an overzealous immune response to a microbial trigger in genetically susceptible individuals. Although this microbial trigger is unknown, *Escherichia coli* with adherent and invasive properties (Adherent-Invasive Escherichia coli, AIEC) is preferentially enriched in a proportion of Crohn's Disease patients. AIEC can adhere to and invade intestinal epithelial cells and replicate intracellularly within epithelial cells and macrophages in *vitro*. One important colonization factor expressed by AIEC is the type 1 fimbrial adhesin protein FimH. FimH mediates colonization of CEABAC10 transgenic mice and can bind several host cell receptors including the macrophage receptor CD48 in vitro indicating a potential role for FimH in macrophage interaction. However, it was not known whether FimH contributed to phagocytosis of AIEC or colonization of wild-type mice. Here we show that FimH enhances early intracellular AIEC levels in vitro and colonization in vivo. We found that deletion of *fimH* may reduce intracellular AIEC burden at 2 hours postinfection and that this effect was modulated by bacteria opsonisation. Using a competitive index assay, we show that a $\Delta fimH$ mutant is unable to chronically colonize CD-1 mice at the same levels as the parental strain. Our results demonstrate that FimH is an important AIEC colonization factor and may increase interaction with macrophages. Identifying factors such as FimH which contribute to colonization and persistence will further our understanding of AIEC survival strategies within the host. Development of therapeutics targeting FimH may provide a means to reduce harmful bacteria overgrowth particularly after surgical intervention.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Brian Coombes for bringing me up in the science world from a fourth year thesis student to a Masters graduate. You were a great mentor who taught me how to critically think. You encouraged me to develop and pursue my ideas and helped me to persevere through difficult times. You have instilled an excellent work ethic and solid scientific values in me that I will carry forward into my doctoral studies. Thank you to my committee members Dr. Dawn Bowdish and Dr. Karen Mossman. You are excellent examples of successful women in science which is a great source of encouragement to me as I begin my doctoral studies. Although I do not yet know what my career path will be, it is always helpful to have those who have gone before you and demonstrated that you really can balance a rewarding career with family life. Thank you to the Coombes lab members that I have worked with over the past three years. You were a constant source of knowledge and encouragement. Your passion for science and incredible work ethic helped to spur me on through my studies. I wish you all the best as you continue on with your studies, career and everything else that makes you happy! Thank you to my wonderful family and friends. You were a steady source of love, encouragement and outside perspective. I would especially like to thank my Dad and Mom. You have helped me to believe in myself and to see the "forest through the trees". I love you very much. Lastly, I would like to thank my husband Kyle. You are always there for me and help me to keep a good perspective. I love you very much! I will always be grateful for my time at McMaster University. I have learned invaluable lessons that I will Thanks! carry with wherever Ι me g0.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Hypothesis	15
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusion	
Experimental Procedures	
Figures and Figure Legends	
References	53
Appendix	69
11	

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1. The mannose binding adhesin FimH binds an array of receptors on different cell types.

Figure 2. Type 1 fimbriae are expressed under static conditions.

Figure 3. RAW264.7 cells express the FimH receptor CD48.

Figure 4. Loss of FimH may reduce intracellular bacteria numbers at 2 hours post-infection.

Figure 5. Bacteria opsonisation compensates for the loss of FimH.

Figure 6. FimH may contribute to intracellular survival.

Figure 7. FimH does not affect tumour necrosis factor alpha secretion.

Figure 8. FimH contributes to persistence of NRG857c in CD1 mice.

Figure 9. FimH contributes to persistence of LF82 in CD1 mice.

Figure 10. NRG857c FimC-His and K-12 FimC-His is inducible using a pCOLADuet-1 vector.

Figure 11. NRG857c FimH-FimC-His induction and purification.

Table 1. Mutation analysis in FimH sequence of selected CDEC isolates.

List of all Abbreviations and Symbols

AIEC – Adherent-Invasive Escherichia coli AP-2 – Adaptor protein complex-2 APEC – Avian pathogenic *Escherichia coli* ATG16L1 – Autophagy-related protein 16-1 BSA - Bovine serum albumin CARD15 – Caspase recruitment domain-containing protein-15 CD - Crohn's Disease CEACAM6 – Carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 6 CFU, CFU/g or CFU/mL - Colony forming unit, Colony forming unit per gram or Colony forming unit per millilitre CI – Competitive index DMEM - Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium E. coli – Escherichia coli FAK – Focal adhesion kinase FACS – Fluorescence activated cell sorting FBS – Fetal bovine serum FITC – Fluorescein isothiocyanate FT - Flowthrough GP2 – Glycoprotein 2 Gp96 – Glycoprotein 96 GPI-Glycosylphosphatidylinositol HMDM - Human monocyte-derived macrophage HRP - Horseradish peroxidase IBD – Inflammatory Bowel Disease IEC – Intestinal epithelial cell IL – Interleukin IRF3 – Interferon regulatory factor 3 IRGM – Immunity-related GTPase family, M IFN - Interferon IPTG – Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside Lamp-1 - Lysosomal-associated membrane protein-1 LB – Luria Bertani LC3 – Light chain 3 M cell – Microfold cell MOI – Multiplicity of infection MyD88 – Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 NOD2 – Nucleotide binding oligomerization domain-containing 2 OD₆₀₀ – Optical density at 600 nanometres OmpA – Outer membrane protein A OmpC – Outer membrane protein C PBS – Phosphate buffered saline PCR - Polymerase chain reaction

PE – Phycoerythrin

PI-3K – Phosphoinositide-3 kinase

RPM – Rotations per minute

SDS – Sodium dodecyl sulfate

T1F – Type 1 fimbriae

TBST – Tris-buffered saline, 0.1% Tween-20

TLR – Toll-like receptor

TNF – Tumor necrosis factor

Tram – TRIF-related adaptor molecule

Trif – TIR domain-containing adapter molecule 1

UPEC – Uropathogenic Escherichia coli

- α Alpha
- β Beta

γ – Gamma

- Δ Delta
- λ Lambda

Declaration of Academic Achievement

LEW and BKC conceived and designed experiments; LEW performed experiments and analyzed data; Sarah Reid-Yu performed flow cytometry, analyzed flow cytometric data and sacrificed mice; Dr. Joseph McPhee inoculated mice with bacteria; Dr. Cherrie Small inoculated mice with bacteria and sacrificed mice; Kun Zhang developed protein purification protocol and performed protein purification.

Introduction

Crohn's disease

Crohn's disease (CD) is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) that can affect any part of the gastrointestinal tract but commonly manifests in the ileum and colon (5). CD is characterized by discontinuous, transmural inflammation which appears as a cobblestone pattern along the intestinal mucosa (98). Chronic unresolved inflammation can promote bowel constriction, transmural ulceration, development of abscesses and fistulae and formation of non-caseating granulomas (117). CD can also manifest as extraintestinal inflammation within the joints, liver, spine and skin (12).

Epidemiological studies indicate that CD is more prevalent in developed countries such as Canada and Northern Europe (15, 87). However, prevalence is increasing in developing nations concomitant with industrialization (111, 161). Recent studies estimate that 81 000 Canadians and 436 000 Americans are living with CD (15, 71). Increasing global prevalence and lack of a cure supports the need to understand the etiopathogenesis of CD. Although this is not yet well understood, it is increasingly clear that CD is a multifactorial disease requiring a confluence of factors in order to occur. These factors can be divided into four categories: environment, genetics, immune response and gut microbiota (128).

Environment

Monozygotic twin studies have shown that IBD does not necessarily affect both twins despite an identical genetic background suggesting that disease development is

influenced by the environment (55, 146, 152). First-generation children of parents who have immigrated to an area with increased IBD incidence have a greater risk of developing IBD suggesting exposure to novel environmental factors has increased disease risk (115). Environmental factors that may increase disease risk include smoking, antibiotic use, dietary changes and decreased exposure to infectious agents (14). Although the mechanisms by which these factors promote IBD is unclear, it is known that many of these factors can affect the gut microbiota and mucosal immunity (14).

Genetics

Genome-wide association studies have uncovered CD-associated genetic variants in microbial sensing, autophagy and immunity (31, 128). For instance, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the innate pattern recognition receptor *NOD2/CARD15* have been identified (61, 109). Nucleotide binding oligomerization domain-containing 2 (NOD2) recognizes muramyl dipeptide, a component of peptidoglycan in the bacterial cell wall (52, 64). NOD2 is constitutively expressed by dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages and Paneth cells which secrete antimicrobial peptides (16). CD-associated polymorphisms in *NOD2* are loss-of-function mutations (2) which may alter sensing of peptidoglycan, secretion of anti-microbial peptides and immune tolerance in the gut (25, 153, 157). SNPs have also been identified in the autophagy genes *ATG16L1* (56) and *IRGM* (94). The ATG16L1 T300A CD variant impaired autophagic processing of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium (*S.* Typhimurium) and Adherent-Invasive *Escherichia coli* (AIEC) strain LF82 (80, 82). Knockdown of IRGM enhanced

intracellular replication of LF82 in epithelial cells (82). Together, these polymorphisms along with others suggest an altered microbial processing in CD.

Immunity

The immense bacterial burden within the gut lumen is separated from resident lamina propria immune cells by a single epithelial cell layer. In CD, a chronic aberrant immune response to the gut microbiota is facilitated by alterations in antimicrobial secretion, handling of intracellular bacteria and loss of epithelial integrity (82, 157, 160). This results in enhanced bacterial translocation and persistence, chronic activation of resident and recruited immune cells and increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production culminating in epithelial injury and ulceration (53, 67, 97, 132, 160). The lamina propria contains the largest resident macrophage population. Under normal physiological conditions, these resident macrophages help to maintain an immunosuppressive environment by downregulating expression of certain immune receptors and pro-inflammatory cytokines (140, 141, 142). IBD patients have increased numbers of activated macrophages which home to the inflamed gut mucosa (54, 70). These macrophages exhibit defective vesicular trafficking which was shown to alter cytokine secretion in response to *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) (138).

Gut microbiota

Both clinical and experimental evidence implicate the gut microbiota in initiation of inflammation. Clinically, diversion of the fecal stream prevents inflammation following surgical resection in CD patients and antibiotics have successfully been used to treat a subset of CD patients (47, 123). In several mouse models, gut microbiota are required to induce spontaneous colitis (134, 155). In a recent study, Bacteroides singularly induced colitis in antibiotic-treated colitis-susceptible mice (17). Distinct changes in the gut microbiota of CD patients characterized by an increase in γ -Proteobacteria and a decrease in Firmicutes has been shown although the consequence of this is not well understood (13, 49, 84, 90). Repeatedly, *E. coli* has been detected at abnormally predominant levels in the gut microbiota of CD patients suggesting that *E. coli* may be involved in CD pathogenesis (13, 49, 77, 84, 107).

Escherichia coli in Crohn's Disease

E. coli is a commensal organism that exists within the gut lumen or mucus layer that covers the intestinal epithelium (88). *E. coli* was first implicated in CD when it was shown that CD patients had an increased antibody titer to *E. coli* relative to healthy controls suggesting an abnormal anti-*E. coli* immune response (150). This was later verified by several independent studies which found that an increased proportion of CD patients displayed elevated levels of antibodies directed against the outer membrane protein C (OmpC) relative to ulcerative colitis patients and healthy controls in which antibody levels correlated with the need for intestinal surgery (6, 100, 101). Using polyclonal *E. coli* antibodies, CD biopsy specimens were positively labeled particularly within lamina propria macrophages, granulomas and near fissures and ulcerations (26, 85). Refined analysis of microdissected granulomas detected *E. coli* DNA in 80% of CD

patients but only 10% of control patients (124). Numerous studies have reported increased numbers of mucosa-associated E. coli in CD although the consequence of this has remained speculative (13, 36, 39, 77, 91, 107, 149). For instance, Neut et al. found that CD patients with early post-surgical endoscopic recurrence had higher counts of E. coli than those with recurrence after one year suggesting a role in early lesion development (107). Another study similarly found that E. coli was preferentially isolated from early recurrent ileal lesions in CD patients than control patients (38). Using 16S rDNA libraries, Baumgart et al. found that E. coli is enriched in CD ileitis and E. coli levels correlated with disease severity (13). Further characterization of these isolates found an increased prevalence of the B2 phylogroup associated with extraintestinal pathogenic E. coli and in vitro adhesive and invasive properties (13, 38, 39, 77, 91, 135). One study found that ~80% of E. coli isolated from CD lesions were adherent to Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells versus 33% of controls (39). Similarly, another study found that 86% of IBD isolates were adherent to buccal epithelial cells versus 27% from infectious diarrhea and none from controls (24). An increased prevalence of invasive E. coli isolates has also been shown in several studies (38, 91). Together, these data provide support for the role of *E. coli* in CD pathogenesis.

The discovery that CD *E. coli* isolates have both *in vitro* adhesive and invasive properties led to a newly designated pathovar: Adherent-Invasive *Escherichia coli* (AIEC) (20). AIEC is defined by its ability to adhere to and invade intestinal epithelial cells (20, 38, 39), induce rearrangement of the host cytoskeleton (20), form a replicative niche within macrophages without inducing apoptosis (23, 53) and induce secretion of

tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) by infected host cells (53). Currently, two prototypic AIEC strains LF82 and NRG857c independently isolated from CD ileal tissue biopsies are being characterized within our lab with LF82 being the predominantly studied strain within the scientific field (96, 105). Four AIEC genome sequences including LF82 and NRG857c have been published (35, 78, 96, 105). Interestingly, these genomes lack many common virulence determinants associated with pathogenic *E. coli* or other enteric pathogens.

Adherence and Invasion of Epithelial Cells

LF82 can adhere to and invade several different epithelial cell lines including HEp-2, Intestine-407, Caco-2 and HCT-8 (20). Invasion is dependent on actin microfilament and microtubule rearrangement which induces membrane extensions around adherent bacteria (20). Invasion increases cellular permeability which was associated with rearrangement of the tight junction protein zonula occludens-1 (106, 158). Once invaded, LF82 is targeted to the autophagy pathway and can replicate intracellularly within autophagosomes (20, 82, 158). LF82 expresses several virulence factors associated with adherence and invasion. Using a Tn*phoA* insertion mutagenesis screen, Boudeau *et al.* found that the majority of non-invasive mutants had insertions within the type 1 fimbriae (T1F) operon. Later studies demonstrated that adherence of LF82 to primary CD ileal enterocytes required the interaction of type 1 pili with the host receptor carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 6 (CEACAM6) (11). Adherence and invasion are further mediated by several other factors. Flagella are required for

motility and were found to regulate T1F expression (10). A nonflagellated *fliC* mutant had significantly decreased adherence and invasion despite normal T1F expression suggesting that flagella can independently mediate adherence and invasion (45). Flagella and T1F expression are co-regulated by several proteins including Fis histone-like protein and the RNA chaperone Hfq (95, 136). T1F expression was also found to be regulated by the periplasmic oxidoreductase DsbA (21). NlpI and YfgL are lipoproteins implicated in adherence and invasion (9, 121). YfgL was found to affect outer membrane vesicle formation which may mediate invasion (121). The outer membrane proteins OmpC as a regulatory protein and OmpA as a ligand for the host receptor Gp96 are also required for adherence and invasion (120, 122). LF82 can interact with specialized epithelial cells termed microfold cells (M cells) located in Peyer's patches within the gut via long polar fimbriae (29). Thus, LF82 expresses several factors to promote adhesion and invasion of epithelial cells *in vitro*.

Survival and replication within macrophages

LF82 has been shown to survive and replicate within large phagosomes without inducing necrosis or apoptosis (22, 53). In a seminal study, 15 AIEC strains were shown to replicate extensively within macrophages with replication rates ranging from 2.51- to 35.4-fold at 26 hours post-infection in J774-A1 macrophage-like cells (53). The replication rate of LF82 in these cells was ~5-fold at 26 hours post-infection. LF82 was also able to replicate in human monocyte-derived macrophages (HMDMs) with a replication rate of >2-fold but was unable to survive in murine peritoneal macrophages

where only 14.2% of the initial intracellular burden remained at 26 hours post-infection (53). Transmission electron microscopy of LF82-infected J774-A1 cells showed large phagosomes containing numerous LF82 bacteria (53). These phagosomes were shown to successively acquire the early endosomal marker early endosome antigen-1 and late endosomal markers Rab7 and lysosomal-associated membrane protein-1 (Lamp-1) (23). These phagosomes matured into Lamp-1+, Lamp-2+, cathepsin D+ phagolysosomes where acidic pH promoted intracellular replication (23). More recently, phagocytosis of LF82 by THP-1 macrophage cells was shown to activate the autophagy pathway (81). In this study, intracellular survival was dependent on host cell targeting. LF82 targeted along the autophagy pathway within light chain 3 (LC3)-positive phagosomes was unable to survive whereas LF82 within LC3-negative phagosomes exhibited a <80% survival rate at 24 hours post-infection (81). Functional inhibition of the autophagy pathway by siRNA knockdown of two autophagy proteins ATG16L1 or IRGM increased intracellular survival. Similarly, intracellular survival was increased in Nod2-knockout macrophages (81). This data is particularly relevant to CD where single nucleotide polymorphisms in Atg16L1, IRGM and Nod2 have been identified (2, 56, 94).

Other CD *E. coli* isolates have similarly been shown to survive and replicate within macrophages. 7 CD colonic isolates and 6 control isolates were able to replicate with a mean rate of 6.36-fold and 5.2-fold respectively in J774-A1 cells and the CD isolate HM605 replicated 3.9-fold in HMDMs at 8 hours post-infection (148). The CD isolate EC10 and LF82 were shown to survive in RAW264.7 cells with <2-fold replication rate at 26 hours post-infection (106). Similarly, a collection of CD isolates

were able to survive in RAW264.7 cells with a mean survival rate of 60.02% at 20 hours post-infection versus 51.36% for control isolates (135).

LF82-infected J774-A1 cells were shown to secrete the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α (53). More recent work has demonstrated that TNF- α secretion correlates with intracellular replication (22). Bringer *et al.* demonstrated a positive correlation between TNF- α levels and multiplicity of infection (MOI). Inhibiting intracellular replication using a replication-defective mutant or via chemical inhibition decreased TNF- α secretion. Conversely, TNF- α secretion was unaffected by the initial intracellular burden. Exogenous TNF- α treatment enhanced intracellular replication in a dose-dependent manner suggesting a positive feed-back loop between TNF- α secretion and intracellular replication (22).

Together, the ability to adhere to and invade epithelial cells and survive within macrophages may facilitate chronic AIEC colonization.

Type 1 fimbriae: Structure and assembly

One of the most well-studied examples of adhesive surface organelles expressed by enteric and urinary pathogens such as *E. coli*, *Salmonella enterica* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* is type 1 fimbriae (T1F) (42, 43, 44). T1F are inflexible thin rod-like filaments that can extend up to 3 microns from the bacterial surface and are distinguished by their ability to agglutinate guinea pig erythrocytes or yeast cells in a mannose-sensitive manner (108, 125, 131). T1F are encoded by the *fim* operon which undergoes phase variable expression (3, 112, 131). Phase variation is mediated by FimB and FimE

recombinases which catalyze the inversion of specific sequences within the fimA promoter to either activate or repress expression of downstream genes (3, 50). FimA is the major fimbrial subunit with ~ 1000 copies per fimbriae (74, 130). FimI is a protein of unknown function. FimC and FimD form a chaperone-usher pair which assembles T1F via the chaperone-usher pathway (76). FimC is the periplasmic chaperone which binds fimbrial subunits via donor strand complementation in which the N-terminal G1 strand of FimC interacts with a hydrophobic groove on the subunit surface to catalyze folding, prevent aggregation and target the chaperone-subunit complex to the outer membrane usher, FimD (32, 68, 75, 131). Binding of the chaperone-subunit complex to FimD induces a conformational change that opens the translocation channel (114). FimD facilitates subunit-subunit interaction via donor strand exchange in which the N-terminal strand of the incoming subunit binds the same hydrophobic groove of the bound chaperone-subunit complex, dissociating FimC (114). The affinity of different chaperonesubunit complexes for FimD determines the order in which subunits are added (129). FimF and FimG are adaptor proteins which connect the rigid fimbrial stalk to the more flexible fimbrial tip and FimH is the mannose-binding adhesin (69, 79, 131).

FimH has an N-terminal lectin domain which contains the highly conserved mannose binding pocket and a C-terminal pilin domain (32). FimH can bind receptors on several epithelial cell types including intestinal and bladder epithelium (11, 46) and cells involved in innate immunity including mast cells (89) and macrophages (8) (Figure 1). Binding specificity is partially determined by single nucleotide polymorphisms within *fimH* (144). For instance, monomannose binding affinity is higher in FimH expressed by

urinary tract versus fecal *E. coli* isolates which has been attributed to several missense mutations (143). The presence of mono-mannosylated receptors in the urinary tract likely selects for FimH variants that bind monomannose and may contribute to the tissue tropism of *E. coli* (145). The ability of FimH to bind receptors on the surface of epithelial and immune cells suggests that T1F are important for colonization and activation of the innate immune response.

Breaching the first line of defense

Microfold cells

Microfold cells (M cells) are rare, interspersed epithelial cells within follicleassociated epithelium that are specialized to transcytose lumenal intestinal antigen and bacteria to the underlying lymphoid follicles which contain antigen-presenting cells that can initiate an immune response (126, 151). Because of this specialized function, M cells are targeted by the enteric pathogens *S*. Typhimurium, *Shigella flexneri* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* to gain access to the lamina propria (33, 34, 156). M cells express the glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored (GPI-anchored) protein, glycoprotein 2 (GP2) on the apical surface and on endosome-like organelles (59). Recombinant GP2 was shown to bind FimH-expressing bacteria *in vitro* but not a $\Delta fimH$ mutant or bacteria which do not express T1F (59). Binding of GP2 via FimH was crucial for Salmonella pathogenesis *in vivo*. Salmonella invasion of Peyer's patches and translocation to mesenteric lymph nodes and generation of an antibody-mediated response was drastically reduced in $Gp2^{-/-}$ mice or in a $\Delta fimH$ mutant (59). In contrast, invasion of *Yersinia enterocolitica*, a bacterium

that does not express FimH, was unaffected in $Gp2^{-/-}$ mice (59). This elegant study identified GP2 as the FimH receptor on M cells and demonstrated the importance of this interaction for enteric pathogenesis *in vivo*.

Intestinal epithelial cells

Intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) constitute a single layer of cells that maintain gut homeostasis by providing a barrier between gut commensal bacteria and lamina propria immune cells. When this epithelial barrier is breached by intestinal bacteria, these immune cells become activated and initiate a pro-inflammatory response (139). In CD, this response is chronic and can lead to tissue injury, scarring and fibrosis (127).

AIEC adherence and invasion of IECs was shown to require T1F *in vitro* (19). However, expression of AIEC *fim* genes in a non-pathogenic *E. coli* strain did not confer invasiveness suggesting that other invasive factors are required (19). Adherence of AIEC to isolated ileal enterocytes from CD patients required FimH (11). GPI-anchored CEACAM6 was identified as the FimH receptor on ileal enterocytes (11). CEACAM6 expression is up-regulated in the ileum of CD patients and in response to the proinflammatory cytokines interferon gamma (IFN- γ) and TNF- α and LF82 invasion (11, 106). T1F were required for invasion of CEACAM6-expressing colonic tissue *ex vivo* and colonization of CEABAC10 mice which express human CEACAM6 (27, 41). Downstream signaling events have not yet been elucidated. Thus, FimH-mediated interaction with CEACAM6 promotes adherence to IECs and colonization of the murine intestine.

Interacting with the innate immune system

Macrophages

Macrophages are mononuclear, phagocytic cells located in subepithelial regions which participate in immune homeostasis and in mounting an innate immune response to foreign antigen. During bacterial infection, macrophages ingest and kill bacteria that have breached the epithelial barrier and release an array of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines to induce a localized immune response (139). Macrophages express a plethora of pattern recognition receptors which sense conserved microbial motifs to initiate phagocytosis (139). FimH-expressing bacteria were found to be preferentially bound by peritoneal macrophages, bone marrow-derived macrophages and macrophagelike cells in vitro suggesting that FimH contributes to macrophage recognition and uptake (57). FimH-expressing bacteria are internalized via a pathway that is distinct from antibody-mediated internalization characterized by small, less acidified phagosomes and an attenuated oxidative burst (8). This decrease in bactericidal activity correlated with increased intracellular survival although other studies have not found that FimH contributes to intracellular survival (8, 22, 57). The GPI-anchored receptor CD48 was identified as the FimH receptor (8). Anti-CD48 antibody prevented phagocytosis of FimH-expressing bacteria in a dose-dependent manner whereas a control antibody had no effect. Disruption of lipid raft microdomains, often enriched in GPI-anchored proteins, inhibited internalization of FimH-expressing bacteria in a dose-dependent manner but had no effect on antibody-mediated internalization (8). Thus, FimH interaction with CD48 activates a distinct mechanism of macrophage phagocytosis that may contribute to intracellular survival.

Host response

FimH-mediated interaction with the host induces an inflammatory immune response. Purified FimH induced MyD88-dependent TNF-a and nitric oxide production by RAW264.7 macrophage-like cells *in vitro* (99), and TNF-α and interleukin-12 (IL-12) production by alveolar macrophages ex vivo (1). In order to elicit this response, FimH directly binds and activates Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) in the absence of lipopolysaccharide signaling (99). This response was protective against viral challenge in vitro and in vivo, and was shown to require MyD88, Trif, IFN-a/βr and IRF-3 in vitro and MyD88, IFN-β, and TLR-4 in vivo (7). During uropathogenic E. coli (UPEC) infection, FimH enhanced bladder colonization and neutrophil recruitment as a $\Delta fimH$ mutant had reduced colonization and neutrophil recruitment relative to wild-type UPEC. This neutrophil response was dependent on TLR-4 as no neutrophil recruitment in response to UPEC was observed in TLR-4-deficient mice (7). These mice also had higher bacterial burden in their bladders suggesting that TLR-4 signaling contributes to clearance. During enteric AIEC infection, FimH was required for development of colitis and induction of a pro-inflammatory immune response measured by IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-17 mRNA levels (27). Thus, FimH is able to signal via TLR-4 and activate an innate immune response both in vitro and in vivo.

Hypothesis

Since macrophages are important in the inflammatory cascade in CD and in AIEC pathogenesis and since FimH can promote bacteria binding to macrophages, then we suggest that **FimH contributes to the interaction of AIEC with macrophages**.

Results

Type 1 fimbriae are expressed under static conditions.

Previous studies have shown that *E. coli* expresses T1F after static growth (30, 62). To verify that NRG857c, LF82 and K-12 express T1F under the static growth condition used, a yeast agglutination assay was performed in the absence and presence of a 2.5% D-mannose solution (Figure 2). In Figure 2, all wild-type strains were able to agglutinate yeast in a mannose-sensitive manner after static growth indicating positive T1F expression. T1F expression was unaffected by the complementation vector pBADGr (Figure 2A) or by the deletion of *phoP* (Figure 2B). As a negative control, isogenic $\Delta fimH$ mutant strains were unable to agglutinate yeast indicating that FimH is required for functional T1F expression. This phenotype could be partially restored by expression of *fimH* from pBADGr (Figure 2A). Thus, T1F are expressed under static growth conditions.

The FimH receptor CD48 is expressed by RAW264.7 macrophage-like cells.

FimH was previously shown to bind CD48 on the surface of murine bone marrow derived macrophages and mast cells (8, 89). To determine if RAW264.7 cells

express CD48, RAW264.7 cells were stained with a phycoerythrin (PE) hamster antimouse CD48 antibody and analyzed by flow cytometry. In Figure 3, 29.8% of the total population were positive for surface CD48 expression (Figure 3B). Unstained cells and cells stained with an isotype control antibody served as negative controls (Figure 3A&C). Splenocytes which have high CD48 expression were used as a positive control (data not shown). Thus, RAW264.7 cells can express the FimH receptor CD48.

Loss of FimH may reduce intracellular bacteria levels at 2 hours post-infection under non-opsonic conditions *in vitro*.

FimH was previously shown to enhance macrophage binding of *E. coli* (18, 57). Given that macrophages have been implicated in AIEC pathogenesis, we wanted to determine if FimH contributes to early intracellular AIEC levels. Using a gentamicin protection assay, RAW264.7 cells or J774-A1 cells were infected with either wild-type or $\Delta fimH$ mutant strains (Figure 4). At 2 hours post-infection, a trend towards lower NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ intracellular bacteria levels relative to NRG857c was observed under all experimental conditions tested although this difference was not statistically significant (Figure 4). In contrast, a trend towards lower LF82 $\Delta fimH$ intracellular levels was only observed at a low MOI in RAW264.7 cells (Figure 4A) but not at a high MOI in RAW264.7 cells or J774-A1 cells (Figure 4B&C). A trend towards lower K-12 $\Delta fimH$ intracellular bacteria levels was also observed indicating that this effect may be common to both the AIEC strain NRG857c and non-pathogenic K-12 under all conditions tested. Together these data suggest that FimH may increase early intracellular levels of

NRG857c and K-12 and has a limited effect on intracellular LF82 levels under nonopsonic conditions.

Loss of FimH does not reduce early intracellular AIEC levels after bacteria opsonisation.

To more closely mimic the opsonin-rich environment of the gut lumen, bacteria were opsonised with normal human serum prior to infection. At 2 hours post-infection, there was no statistically significant difference between wild-type and $\Delta fimH$ intracellular bacteria levels (Figure 5). Opsonisation appeared to increase the levels of intracellular NRG857c and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ in RAW264.7 cells and J774-A1 cells where the levels of NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ surpassed that of the wild-type (Figure 5). This suggests that opsonisation of NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ compensates for the loss of FimH. Similarly, opsonisation also increased the intracellular levels of LF82 $\Delta fimH$ and K-12 $\Delta fimH$ to levels at or above wild-type levels in J774-A1 cells (Figure 5B). Oddly, opsonisation did not affect the levels of LF82 or K-12 in RAW264.7 cells. This may reflect lower opsonisation of these strains during incubation with human serum. These data suggest that loss of FimH does not affect early intracellular levels under opsonic conditions.

FimH may contribute to intracellular survival.

One of the defining characteristics of AIEC is the ability to survive and replicate within macrophages (53). Using a standard gentamicin protection assay, we were unable to demonstrate extensive replication at 2 and 20 hours post-infection despite varying the

cell line, MOI and bacteria opsonisation. A >1-fold increase was observed in RAW264.7 cells infected with opsonised NRG857c and K-12 at a high MOI (Figure 6B). Under these conditions, it appears that FimH may contribute to intracellular survival although statistical significance was not achieved. There was a statistically significant difference between the fold survival of NRG857c and LF82 under these conditions. However, neither survival nor replication was seen under the majority of conditions tested at 2 and 20 hours post-infection. NRG857c $\Delta phoP$ served as an attenuated control. In the absence of intracellular survival, the effect of FimH on intracellular bacteria levels was variable. At a high MOI, there was a trend towards enhanced intracellular bacteria levels of LF82 upon loss of FimH (Figure 6B-D). In contrast, a trend towards decreased intracellular bacteria levels of K-12 was observed upon loss of FimH. Thus, it appears that the effect of FimH on intracellular survival is variable depending on the strain background and experimental condition.

FimH does not affect TNF-α secretion.

FimH has been shown to induce TNF- α secretion by macrophages *in vitro* and TNF- α is likely a primary inflammatory mediator in CD (7, 22, 99, 128, 147). To determine if FimH affects TNF- α secretion, TNF- α levels were measured in cell supernatants collected at 2h (Figure 7A&B) or 20h post-infection (Figure 7C) from wild-type or $\Delta fimH$ -infected cells. Loss of FimH did not affect TNF- α levels at either 2 hours or 20 hours post-infection as no statistically significant difference between TNF- α levels

induced by wild-type or $\Delta fimH$ strains was observed. It is likely that TNF- α secretion is being stimulated by other bacterial antigens in the absence of FimH.

FimH contributes to persistence of AIEC in vivo.

Previously, T1F and host CEACAM6 were shown to be important for LF82 colonization of CEABAC10 transgenic mice (28). However, both NRG857c and LF82 have been found to colonize wild-type mice in the absence of CEACAM6 suggesting that CEACAM6 is not necessary for colonization (Submitted June 11 2012 to PLoS Pathogens). To determine whether FimH contributes to AIEC colonization in wild-type mice, competitive index (CI) experiments in which NRG857c was competed against NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ and LF82 was competed against LF82 $\Delta fimH$ in CD-1 mice were performed (Figure 8&9). By day 7 post-infection, the mean CI value was significantly less than one for NRG857c competed against NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ indicating that $\Delta fimH$ has a competitive disadvantage in vivo (Figure 8A). This disadvantage was maintained up to day 21 which was reflected in a lower $\Delta fimH$ bacteria burden in the feces (Figure 8E). At day 27, cecal and colonic burden was assessed. The strong competitive disadvantage observed for NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ was similarly seen in the cecum and colon with a mean CI value significantly less than one (Figure 8B) and lower bacteria burden (Figure 8F). On day 5 and 9 post-infection and in the colon on day 27 post-infection, the mean CI value was significantly less than one for LF82 competed against LF82 $\Delta fimH$ (Figure 9A&B) which correlated with a lower $\Delta fimH$ bacteria burden (Figure 9E&F). The low LF82 organ burden and experimental n value may have increased experimental noise which could account for the observed variability in the fecal and organ bacteria output and lack of statistical significance at all time points tested (Figure 9A,B&D). Together these data show that FimH contributes to chronic AIEC colonization in CD-1 mice.

Discussion

In this study, we present evidence for the role of FimH in macrophage interaction in vitro and long-term colonization in vivo. Previously, Boner et al. demonstrated increased binding of a nonopsonised fimbriated E. coli urinary isolate by human peritoneal macrophages relative to E. coli lacking fimbriae expression (18). Hamrick et al. observed that murine bone marrow-derived macrophages, murine peritoneal macrophages and the cell line macrophages J774 and IC-21 bound higher levels of fimbriated E. coli than nonfimbriated E. coli regardless of the host background with cell line macrophages exhibiting the highest fimbriated/nonfimbriated ratio bound (57). Similarly, we found that deletion of *fimH* in NRG857c and K-12 trended towards reduced levels of intracellular bacteria in RAW264.7 cells and J774-A1 cells at 2 hours postinfection under nonopsonic conditions. This effect was only observed in LF82 at a low MOI and may reflect differences in strain background. The LF82 FimH variant contains a unique T158P substitution located in the loop region between the pilin and lectin domain (96). Although the effect of this substitution is unknown, other mutations located outside of the mannose binding pocket have altered binding affinity which may affect FimHmediated host cell interaction (130). We also assessed the role of FimH in macrophage interaction with opsonised E. coli. Here we showed that opsonisation may have

compensated for the loss of FimH such that there was no statistically significant difference between the intracellular levels of wild-type and AIEC *fimH* mutants at 2 hours post-infection. Baorto *et al.* demonstrated differences in antibody-mediated versus FimH-mediated phagocytosis of *E. coli* by murine bone-marrow derived macrophages (8). FimH-mediated phagocytosis required the macrophage receptor CD48 and the presence of lipid microdomains. In contrast, antibody-mediated phagocytosis was CD48-independent and was unaffected by disruption of lipid microdomains (8). Thus, bacteria opsonisation can alter macrophage interaction. Here we showed that loss of FimH may only affect macrophage interaction under nonopsonic conditions.

In our results, we observed a trend towards decreased intracellular survival of NRG857c and K-12 $\Delta fimH$ mutants in RAW264.7 cells and J774-A1 cells infected at an MOI of 100 under opsonic and nonopsonic conditions respectively. However, this effect was not observed under all experimental conditions. In particular, J774-A1 cells infected with opsonised $\Delta fimH$ bacteria showed no defect in intracellular survival. A defect in intracellular survival was never observed for LF82 $\Delta fimH$. This was similarly seen by Bringer *et al.* who reported no difference in intracellular survival between LF82 and a nonfimbriated $\Delta fimA$ mutant (22). Thus, the role of FimH in the interaction of LF82 with macrophages may be more subtle than in the interaction of NRG857c or K-12 with macrophages. Together, these data suggest that under certain conditions, FimH may modulate intracellular survival of *E. coli*.

While determining the role of FimH in intracellular survival, we noted that AIEC was unable to extensively replicate intracellularly at 2 and 20 hours post-infection under

the experimental conditions tested. The fold survival rate ranged from 0.31-1.30 for NRG857c, 0.06-0.38 for LF82 and 0.20-1.21 for K-12. Under the same experimental conditions, J774-A1 cells appeared to be more bactericidal than RAW264.7 cells. Increased intracellular bacteria levels at 2 hours post-infection did not necessarily correlate with increased survival. For example, opsonisation of NRG857c appeared to increase intracellular bacteria levels at 2 hours in J774-A1 cells but did not increase fold survival relative to nonopsonic conditions. In contrast, increasing the initial intracellular bacteria burden in RAW264.7 cells by increasing the MOI 10-fold did enhance the fold survival of all strains tested. However, despite varying the MOI and cell line used, we were unable to demonstrate extensive intracellular replication as reported in the literature.

A review of the literature reveals a discrepancy in AIEC replication rates. Several studies report extensive AIEC replication ranging from 2.51-35.4-fold replication whereas other studies report <2-fold replication by 18-24 hours post-gentamicin treatment (13, 22, 23, 53, 81, 105, 106, 135, 137, 148). In several studies that report >2-fold replication by 24 hours post-gentamicin treatment, J774 cells are consistently used (13, 21, 22, 53, 148). In those studies where replication is <2-fold, murine peritoneal macrophages, HMDMs, bone-marrow derived macrophages and RAW264.7 cells were used suggesting that cell type may account for some discrepancy (106, 135, 137). However, we do not observe replication in J774-A1 cells which is in accordance with a previous report of >20% survival of NRG857c at 8 hours in J774.1 cells (105). This may be due to differences in passage number, cell culture practices or other experimental conditions. A closer look at the experimental methodology used in previous studies

reveals key differences. In three studies that reported replication in J774 cells, an infection period of 2 hours prior to the addition of gentamicin was used versus 30 minutes in our experiments. This longer infection period may have increased the initial phagocytic load allowing more extensive replication to occur (13, 53, 148). Replication was also observed in two other studies which had a shorter infection period of 20 minutes (22, 23). In these studies, a higher MOI was used which may have similarly increased the initial intracellular burden (22). Other differences in the concentration of gentamicin used or the time points that were measured may also account for the discrepancy in replication rates. For instance, we and others generally report a ratio of viable intracellular bacteria at two static time points. If intracellular bacteria are replicating at a faster rate than they are being killed by the host cell, then an overall fold increase will occur. However, if the intracellular bacteria replication rate is lower than the killing rate, then an overall fold decrease will be observed even though intracellular replication has occurred. Thus, it may be prudent to measure several different time points throughout the course of infection to determine if replication has occurred (53, 106, 137). In future, the use of a standard experimental procedure to measure AIEC intracellular survival and replication may resolve the current discrepancies.

Intracellular survival and replication is considered a crucial determinant of AIEC pathogenesis. However, this data is limited to *in vitro* studies. One unanswered question is the importance of intracellular survival and replication *in vivo*. Furthermore, there is a very limited overall understanding of AIEC-host interaction including identification of AIEC factors that promote host colonization. A mouse model in CEABAC10 mice which

express human CEACAM 3, 5, 6 and 7 receptors has been established (27, 28). In this model, mice that are infected with LF82 display clinical symptoms of colitis accompanied by a decrease in body weight and induction of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-17 mRNA expression. LF82 is able to colonize the gut and disseminate to the liver and spleen in 20 and 27% of mice respectively. Dissemination to the liver and spleen may indicate intracellular survival in vivo (27). A more recent study showed that LF82 colonization increased intestinal permeability using FITC-dextran in CEABAC10 mice (41). In this model, the interaction of CEACAM6 with T1F was shown to be important for colonization. Administration of a monoclonal anti-CEACAM6 antibody significantly reduced colony forming units per gram (CFU/g) of feces on day 3 post-infection. Infection with LF82 $\Delta fimH$ significantly reduced CFU/g of feces by day 2 post-infection and ameliorated colitis and its associated symptoms (27). Drawbacks to this model are the use of transgenic mice limiting the study of diverse host backgrounds and significant acute mortality associated with LF82 infection limiting the study of chronic colonization. Recently, our lab established a chronic colonization model in wild-type mice including CD-1 mice and C57Bl/6 mice which mimics certain CD pathologies including intestinal inflammation and fibrosis (Submitted June 11 2012 to PLoS Pathogens). Using this model in CD-1 mice, here we showed that both NRG857c and LF82 colonization and persistence is enhanced by FimH as $\Delta fimH$ mutants were outcompeted by the wild-type strains in a competitive index assay. This was associated with lower bacterial burden in the feces and intestinal organs. The limit of detection for determination of WT and mutant bacteria burden via replica plating was defined as 200 CFU/mL homogenized feces or

organ since at least 20 individual colonies per 100 µL was required for consistent results. The limit of detection for total bacteria burden was defined as 10 CFU/mL homogenized feces or organ which corresponds to 1 colony per 100 μ L. Data points were excluded if a fecal sample was not obtained or if the bacteria burden was below the limit of detection. If either no WT or mutant bacteria was detected, a value of one CFU was assigned for the purpose of bacteria burden and competitive index calculations. Unlike the CEABAC10 mouse model, CEACAM6 expression was not required for colonization. Interestingly, in the absence of CEACAM6, FimH was still required for colonization and persistence suggesting that there may be other ligands or receptors that FimH binds in the mouse intestine to promote colonization. FimH has been shown to bind soluble fibronectin and $\alpha \beta \beta 1$ integrin on the surface of bladder epithelial cells to promote cellular invasion (46, 144). Fibronectin expression is increased in the CD colon and in smooth muscle cells within CD strictures (48, 66). Numerous bacteria pathogens bind fibronectin and/or β 1 integrin receptors to induce cellular invasion. For instance, Mycobacterium avium subspecies *paratuberculosis*, the causative agent of chronic granulomatous enteritis in ruminants, invades M cells by binding fibronectin which is bound by integrins on the surface of M cells (133). M cells uniquely express β1 integrins on their apical surface and are targeted by several gut bacteria including *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium, Yersinia pseudotuberculosis and AIEC (29, 33, 34). Interestingly, aphthous ulcers which are the earliest lesion in Crohn's disease form within Peyer's patches which contain M cells. Other bacteria which interact with both fibronectin and β 1 integrins include Enterococcus faecalis (66), Streptococcus pyogenes (113) and Staphylococcus aureus (4).

Other pathogenic bacteria including Diffusely Adherent *E. coli* and *Neisseria meningitides* target α 5 β 1 integrin receptor and CEACAM receptors to promote adhesion (102, 116, 154). Thus, targeting fibronectin, integrin receptors and CEACAM receptors is a common invasive strategy utilized by several pathogenic bacteria. Interestingly, Ordonez *et al.* demonstrated that α 5 β 1 integrin receptor co-localizes with CEACAM5 & 6 and that binding of fibronectin to α 5 β 1 integrin was augmented by expression of CEACAM5 & 6 (110). Taken together, it would be interesting to determine if FimH promotes AIEC colonization in wild-type mice by binding to fibronectin bound to β 1 integrin receptors on the surface of M cells to promote cellular invasion and epithelial translocation. In CEABAC10 mice, this interaction would be predicted to be enhanced by the presence of CEACAM6.

Sequencing of the NRG857c and LF82 genomes has provided insight into genetic determinants that may promote host colonization and has allowed phylogenetic comparison with other pathogenic *E. coli* strains which may elucidate common colonization strategies shared by AIEC. NRG857c and LF82 have a high degree of genetic similarity and primarily differ only in their plasmid content (96, 105). Analysis of both genomes reveals unique genetic sequences which encode prophage elements and metabolic operons. However, AIEC does not possess virulence determinants typically associated with enteric *E. coli* pathogens such as *ipaC* of enteroinvasive *E. coli, eae* of enteropathogenic *E. coli* and enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*, Shiga-like toxin-I and -II of enterohemorrhagic hemorraghic *E. coli* and *tia* of enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (96, 105). Virulence determinants that are present include lipopolysaccharide and capsule
biosynthetic pathways, multi-drug resistance, type VI secretion systems, iron acquisition systems, metabolic operons, fimbrial operons and adhesins and invasins. Primary sequence analysis of mature FimH reveals three common missense mutations V27A, N70S and S78N and one unique LF82 mutation T158P relative to the K-12 FimH sequence. Sequence analysis of *fimH* in E. coli isolates from IBD patients demonstrated a significant association between A27V and a healthy individual state and between N70S and S78N and an IBD disease state (135). In a more recent study of *fimH* mutations in E. coli isolates from IBD and control patients, V27A and G66S were associated with a CD disease state, G66S, N70S and S78N were associated with the B2/D phylogroup and the presence of V27A, N70S and S78N together in B2 strains were associated with mild mucosal inflammation (63). V27A was shown to confer low mannose binding affinity which was associated with increased resistance to soluble inhibitors (143, 145). Variation in mannose binding affinity can alter tissue tropism and bacteria burden in vivo (30, 60, 145). Thus, genetic mutations in FimH and other AIEC factors may promote host colonization. Despite this genetic information, the lack of virulence determinants typically associated with enteric pathogens requires a more careful analysis of both AIEC and host factors that may facilitate chronic colonization.

Phylogenetic analysis clusters AIEC with extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli* including uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) and avian pathogenic *E. coli* (APEC). Extensive research has been done on UPEC pathogenesis including the role of FimH in adhesion, invasion and intracellular survival (46, 92, 159). An understanding of UPEC pathogenesis may elucidate common virulence strategies between UPEC and AIEC. Like AIEC, UPEC

lacks enteric virulence determinants but does encode iron acquisition systems, lipopolysaccharide and capsule biosynthetic operons, secreted toxins and several fimbrial operons (86). T1F are crucial for adherence and invasion of bladder epithelial cells as a UPEC $\Delta fimH$ mutant is unable to adhere to or invade bladder epithelial cells in vitro or colonize the bladder in vivo (7, 92). FimH was shown to be both necessary and sufficient for invasion of bladder epithelial cells in vitro (92). FimH binds $\alpha 3\beta 1$ integrin on the surface of bladder epithelial cells which induces autophosphorylation of focal adhesin kinase and recruitment and activation of Src tyrosine kinase which promote endocytosis (46). Once invaded, UPEC can replicate intracellularly within superficial facet cells in vivo and bladder epithelial cells in vitro (103, 159). This intracellular population is thought to facilitate chronic persistence *in vivo* (103). Epithelial differentiation is thought to induce UPEC re-emergence and promote recurrent infection (104). Similarly, LF82 has been shown to invade and persist within intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro* (20, 137, 158). It will be interesting to determine if and where AIEC persists within the intestinal epithelium *in vivo*. Interestingly, ileal epithelial cells similarly undergo differentiation within crypts providing a possible similar environmental cue for AIEC re-emergence (37). Thus, an understanding of phylogenetically related E. coli pathogens may reveal certain colonization strategies employed by AIEC.

Future directions

The following research questions and experiments may help to expand upon the current data presented here.

(1) The role of the macrophage receptor CD48 in the FimH-mediated interaction

Using flow cytometric analysis, we showed that ~30% of RAW264.7 cells express CD48. To determine whether CD48 expression is critical for FimH-mediated bacteria interaction, RAW264.7 cells could be sorted by fluorescence activated cell sorting into CD48-positive and CD48-negative populations. Using a gentamicin protection assay, these distinct populations could be infected with WT or $\Delta fimH$ mutant bacteria and the levels of intracellular bacteria at 2 hours and total bacteria within the inoculum could be quantified. If CD48 is critical for FimH-mediated bacteria interaction, then CD48-positive cells would show an increased intracellular WT bacteria burden relative to $\Delta fimH$ while CD48-negative cells would show no difference between WT and $\Delta fimH$ intracellular burden.

(2) The role of specific FimH variants in AIEC interaction with macrophages

Analysis of the mature FimH primary sequences in NRG857c and LF82 identified four missense mutations relative to K-12: V27A, N70S, S78N and T158P where T158P is unique to LF82. Unlike NRG857c and K-12 where a consistent trend towards lower $\Delta fimH$ intracellular burden at 2 hours post-infection under non-opsonic conditions was observed, LF82 $\Delta fimH$ had a trend towards increased intracellular burden relative to LF82 in cells infected at a high MOI. To determine whether the FimH variant expressed by LF82 can account for this observation, two separate experiments can be performed. In the first experiment, allelic exchange could be used to chromosomally express different *fimH* alleles in the same background. For example, LF82 expressing NRG857c *fimH* or K-12 *fimH*, NRG857c expressing LF82 *fimH* or K-12 *fimH* or K-12 expressing NRG857c *fimH*

or LF82 *fimH* could be constructed. By using chromosomal expression versus plasmidbased expression, the effects of plasmid copy number or variable expression levels could be avoided. These strains could be used in a gentamicin protection assay and the levels of intracellular bacteria at 2 hours and total bacteria within the inoculum could be quantified. If the FimH variant affects macrophage interaction, then the phagocytic index values between an individual strain expressing different FimH variants would differ and could be specifically attributed to the FimH variant being expressed. In the second experiment, purified FimHC from NRG857c, LF82 or K-12 could be coated on fluorescent microspheres and phagocytosis could be monitored by confocal fluorescence microscopy. Differences in the numbers of adherent or intracellular beads could be specifically attributed to the FimHC variant coated on the beads. These experiments may help to determine whether the FimH variants expressed by each *E. coli* strain affect interaction with macrophage cells.

(3) The role of intracellular survival and replication within macrophages in vivo

We were unable to observe extensive AIEC replication within macrophages *in vitro* which is inconsistent with some, but not all of the published literature (13, 21, 22, 23, 53, 148). To determine whether AIEC survival and replication within macrophages is important *in vivo*, wild-type mice could be infected with AIEC expressing chromosomally encoded green fluorescent protein (GFP) and AIEC interaction with macrophages could be monitored over the course of the infection. More specifically, the cecum and colon could be harvested at various time points during the infection and subjected to either flow cytometric or immunofluorescence analysis. Using flow cytometry, lamina propria

macrophages within the cecum or colon could be labelled with the F4/80 macrophage marker and assessed for GFP expression. GFP signal from extracellular bacteria could be quenched using trypan blue so that only the intracellular GFP signal is measured. This signal should be normalized to the number of macrophages to account for variation in the number of lamina propria macrophages. If GFP-AIEC survives or replicates within macrophages in vivo, then the number of macrophages that are GFP-positive should remain the same or increase over the course of the infection. In contrast, if the number of GFP-positive macrophages decreases, then it is likely that GFP-AIEC is killed intracellularly. Using immunofluorescence, cecal and colonic sections could be treated with gentamicin to kill extracellular bacteria prior to fixation and staining with anti-F4/80 and anti-GFP primary antibodies and fluorescent secondary antibodies. This would provide direct visualization of intracellular GFP-AIEC. If GFP-AIEC survives or replicates within macrophages, then the number of macrophages that contain intracellular GFP-AIEC should increase over the course of the infection. Together, flow cytometric and immunofluorescence analysis should provide evidence for AIEC intracellular survival or replication within macrophages in vivo.

(4) Evaluating the role of β 1 integrin and/or fibronectin in FimH-mediated colonization

To initially determine whether β 1 integrin and/or fibronectin is involved in FimHmediated AIEC colonization *in vivo*, CD-1 mice could be infected with GFP-labelled WT or Δ *fimH* bacteria. After colonization has been established, infected cecal and colonic tissues could be isolated, fixed and stained with anti- β 1 integrin, anti-fibronectin and anti-GFP antibodies. If either or both β 1 integrin and fibronectin is required for colonization,

then WT bacteria should have increased co-localization relative to $\Delta fimH$ bacteria. To more specifically study this interaction, a gut loop assay could be employed as outlined in (133). Briefly, ileocecal loops were injected with either bacteria only, fibronectinopsonised bacteria only, fibronectin-opsonised bacteria and fibronectin blocking peptides or fibronectin-opsonised bacteria and anti- β 1 integrin antibody. After 2 hours, gut loops were isolated, fixed and examined by immunofluoresence microscopy. By counting the number of infected cells, the authors were able to determine if fibronectin and β 1 integrin enhanced intestinal colonization. A similar experimental procedure could be used to determine whether AIEC utilizes fibronectin or β 1 integrin receptors to promote colonization.

Conclusion

The CD inflammatory microenvironment represents a unique niche that favors AIEC colonization. Our data shows that FimH is important for colonization and persistence within the murine intestine *in vivo* and may contribute to macrophage interaction *in vitro*. Although we were unable to demonstrate extensive replication within macrophages *in vitro*, it remains to be determined whether macrophages provide a replicative or persistent niche *in vivo*. Further development and characterization of mouse models of AIEC colonization will deepen our understanding of AIEC-host interaction. Although AIEC does not likely represent the sole microbial trigger in CD, an understanding of its role in CD etiopathogenesis will provide a solid foundation for characterizing the complex interaction between the gut microflora, immune response and genetic factors in CD.

Experimental Procedures

Construction of *fimH* mutant strains

fimH was deleted in NRG857c, LF82 and K-12 using the Lambda-Red recombinase method (40). Briefly, chloramphenicol or kanamycin resistance cassettes were amplified from pKD3 or pKD4 respectively using the primers AIECfimHfwd and AIECfimHrev for NRG857c and LF82, or K12fimHfwd and K12fimHrev for K-12. The PCR product was digested with DpnI (New England Biolabs, Canada) and transformed into chemically competent cells containing pKD46. After recovery at 30°C, cells were plated on selective media and incubated overnight at 30°C. Positive clones were confirmed using the primers fimHscrfwd2 and either AIECfimHrev2 or K12fimHrev2.

Construction of FimH complementation vectors

fimH was PCR amplified from NRG857c, LF82 and K-12 genomic DNA using the primers BluefimHfwd and BluefimHrev and PCR cycling conditions: 95°C 1 minute, 53°C 1 minute, 68°C 1 minute. The PCR product and arabinose-inducible cloning vector pBADGr (51, 83) were digested with EcoRI (New England Biolabs, Canada) and XbaI (New England Biolabs, Canada), ligated together, and transformed into chemically competent DH5 α cells. Clones were selected on gentamicin (50 µg/mL) and sequenced using the primers BADF and BADR.

Type 1 fimbriae inducing conditions

Bacteria were statically grown in 3 mL of Luria-Bertani (LB) broth with antibiotics at 37°C for 24 hours, diluted 1:1000 into 3 mL of LB broth with antibiotics, and statically grown at 37°C for an additional 24 hours (adapted from (30)). For mouse infections, the volume of LB broth was increased to 15 mL for the 1:1000 dilution.

Yeast agglutination assay

Bacteria were grown under type 1 fimbriae inducing conditions. 2-3 mL of resuspended overnight culture was spun down at 4000 x g for 2 minutes at room temperature, washed twice in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and resuspended to an $OD_{600} \sim 1$ (equal to $\sim 2x10^9$ cfu/mL) in 100 µL of PBS. To inhibit agglutination, 0.25g of D-mannose (Bioshop, Canada) was suspended in 10mL of PBS and filter-sterilized. 25 µL of 2.5% (w/v) D-mannose solution was added to each well in a 96-well U-bottom suspension culture plate (Cellstar 650185, Grenier bio-one). 25 µL of bacteria was added to the first well and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. Bacteria were then serially diluted and incubated for an additional 10 minutes at room temperature. To measure agglutination, 25 µL of bacteria was serially diluted in PBS and 25 µL of a 2% (w/v) baker's yeast solution was then added to all wells. The bacteria-yeast suspension was gently rotated at 90 rpm for 10 minutes at room temperature. The last well to yield a positive agglutination reaction was recorded (62, 73).

Flow cytometric analysis of CD48 expression on the surface of RAW264.7 macrophage-like cells

RAW264.7 cells were collected and re-suspended at 1×10^7 cells/mL in FACS buffer (0.2% BSA, PBS). 100 µL of cells was added to a U-bottom 96-well plate and centrifuged at 500 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and 100 µL of 1/100 dilution of anti-mouse CD16/32 was added. After incubation on ice for 15 minutes, cells were centrifuged using the same parameters and the supernatant was removed. 100 µL of 1/400 dilution of anti-CD48 or isotype control or 100 µL of FACS buffer was added. After incubation on ice for 30 minutes in the dark, cells were centrifuged and the supernatant was discarded. Cells were washed two times with 200 µL of FACS buffer, resuspended in 200 µL of fixation buffer (2% paraformaldehyde, PBS) and stored at 4°C. Prior to FACS analysis, cells were resuspended and added to a cell strainer cap. Flow cytometry tubes were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 3 minutes at 4°C. Samples were read on the LSR II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

Gentamicin protection assay

RAW264.7 macrophage-like cells (119) and J774-A1 macrophage-like cells (118) were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) + 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) + 50 units/mL penicillin-streptomycin at 37°C and 5% CO₂. RAW264.7 cells were seeded at 5×10^5 cells/mL in 24-well plates or J774-A1 cells were seeded at 5×10^4 cells/200 µL in 96-well plates in DMEM + 10% FBS 24 hours prior to infection. Bacteria grown under T1F inducing conditions were spun down at 4000 x g for 2 minutes

at room temperature, washed twice in PBS and resuspended in 1 mL of PBS. Macrophage-like cells were washed three times in PBS and infected at a MOI of ~10 or 100. Cells were spun at 500 x *g* for 5 minutes at room temperature to synchronize the infection and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 30 minutes. Cells were washed three times in PBS and incubated with DMEM + 10% FBS containing 100 μ g/mL gentamicin for one hour. For the 2h time point, cells were washed three times in PBS and lysed in either 250 μ L of lysis buffer (1% Triton-X-100, 0.1% SDS, PBS) in 24-well plates or 50 μ L of lysis buffer in 96-well plates for 10-15 minutes at 37°C, 5% CO₂. For the 20h time point, cells were washed three times in PBS and incubated with DMEM + 10% FBS containing 10 μ g/mL gentamicin. At 20h, cell supernatants were collected and cells were washed three times in PBS and lysed. Bacteria were serially diluted in PBS and 10 μ L was spotted in triplicate on selective media for enumeration. Phagocytic index was calculated as Intracellular bacteria levels at 20h / In

Opsonisation of bacteria

Bacteria grown under T1F inducing conditions were spun down at 4000 x g for 2 minutes at room temperature, washed twice in PBS and resuspended in 1 mL of PBS. 250 μ L of bacteria was added to 750 μ L of PBS for OD₆₀₀ determination. The remaining 750 μ L of bacteria was spun down and resuspended in opsonisation media (20% normal human serum in DMEM + 10% FBS). Bacteria were incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes in a water bath and resuspended in PBS.

TNF-α enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

A 96-well high-binding flat-bottom microplate (Corning) was coated with 100 μ L per well of capture antibody, diluted to 0.8 µg/mL in PBS and incubated overnight at room temperature. The plate was washed three times with wash buffer (0.05% Tween 20 in PBS), blocked with 300 µL of reagent diluent (1% bovine serum albumin in PBS, 0.2 µm-filtered) for one hour at room temperature and then washed three times with wash buffer. Cell supernatant samples were diluted in reagent diluent and 100 µL of sample was added to each well and incubated for two hours at room temperature. The plate was washed three times with wash buffer and incubated with 100 µL of detection antibody, diluted to 200 ng/mL in reagent diluent, per well for two hours at room temperature. The plate was washed three times with wash buffer and incubated with 100 μ L of streptavidin-HRP, diluted 1:200 in reagent diluent, for 20 minutes at room temperature in the dark. The plate was washed three times with wash buffer and incubated with 100 µL of substrate solution per well for 10 minutes at room temperature in the dark. 50 µL of 2N H_2SO_4 was added to each well to stop the reaction, and the absorbance was read at 450 nanometres.

Animal experiments: Competitive index assay

Wild-type and $\Delta fimH$ mutant bacteria were statically grown in 3mL LB + antibiotic at 37°C for 24 hours, diluted 1:1000 into 15 mL LB + antibiotic in a 125-mL flask and incubated for 22 hours under static conditions at 37°C. 1x10¹⁰ colony-forming units were spun down (4000 x g, 2 minutes), washed two times in PBS and resuspended

in 500 µL of PBS. Wild-type and $\Delta fimH$ mutant bacteria were mixed in a 1:1 ratio for a final inoculum concentration of ~1x10¹⁰ cfu/mL. Female CD-1 mice (Charles River Laboratories), age 6-8 weeks, were pre-treated with 20 mg of streptomycin 24 hours prior to infection and infected with either 100 µL of inoculum or PBS (day 0). Body weight was monitored and fecal pellets were collected every 2-3 days. Fecal pellets were weighed, homogenized in 1mL PBS by vortexing and serially diluted in PBS. NRG857c and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ bacteria were selected on chloramphenicol (34 µg/mL) streptomycin (100 µg/mL) plates. LF82 and LF82 $\Delta fimH$ bacteria were selected on ampicillin (200 µg/mL) plates. NRG857c and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ bacteria were replica plated onto chloramphenicol (34 µg/mL) streptomycin (100 µg/mL) plates. NRG857c and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ bacteria were replica $(34 \mug/mL)$ streptomycin (100 µg/mL) plates. NRG857c and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ bacteria were replica $(34 \mug/mL)$ streptomycin (100 µg/mL) plates. NRG857c and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ bacteria were replica $(34 \mug/mL)$ streptomycin (100 µg/mL) streptomycin (100 µg/mL) and chloramphenicol (34 µg/mL) plates and enumerated. Competitive index values were determined by $[(\Delta fimH cfu / Wild-type cfu)]_{output}$

Figures and Figure Legends



Figure 1. The mannose binding adhesin FimH binds an array of receptors on different cell types. From the left, FimH binds the innate immune receptor TLR-4 to induce MyD88-dependent and TRIF/TRAM-dependent signaling. FimH interacts with GPI-anchored CD48 on macrophages which increased intracellular pH and decreased reactive oxygen species (ROS) which may contribute to enhanced survival (a), mast cells which induced TNF- α release (b), and endothelial cells which activated RhoA and increased cytosolic calcium levels which are implicated in actin rearrangement (c). In the gut, FimH binds GP-2 on M cells which was required for transcytosis and activation of an adaptive immune response and CEACAM6 on ileal epithelial cells which induced colitis and upregulated mRNA levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-17. In the bladder, binding of $\alpha 3\beta 1$ integrins on bladder epithelial cells activates the GTPase Cdc42, autophosphorylation of focal adhesin kinase (FAK), recruitment of Src tyrosine

kinase and phosphoinositide-3kinase (PI-3K), activation of the GTPase Rac1, and association of the actin adaptor proteins α -actinin and vinculin leading to actin rearrangement. Entry via clathrin-dependent endocytosis requires clathrin, adaptor protein complex-2 (AP-2) and alternate endocytic adaptors Numb, Dab2 and ARH.



Figure 2. Type 1 fimbriae are expressed under static conditions. Type 1 fimbriae expression in wild-type and mutant strains with (A) and without an empty pBADGr vector (B) was semi-quantitatively measured using a yeast agglutination assay in the absence (black bars) or presence (white bars) of 2.5% (w/v) D-mannose. The pBADGr expression vector carrying a wild-type *fimH* copy was used to complement Δ *fimH* mutant strains (A). Yeast agglutination titers correspond to the last positive agglutination reaction. Data represents mean + SEM, n = 3.



Figure 3. RAW264.7 cells express the FimH receptor CD48. CD48 expression on the surface of RAW264.7 cells was analyzed by flow cytometry. RAW264.7 cells were stained with either an isotype control antibody (A) or PE anti-mouse CD48 antibody (B). Unstained cells and isotype control antibody-stained cells were used as controls for non-specific staining (A&C). Data was analyzed using FlowJo flow cytometry analysis software.



Figure 4. Loss of FimH may reduce intracellular bacteria numbers at 2 hours postinfection. RAW264.7 cells were infected with wild-type or $\Delta fimH$ mutant strains at a MOI of 10 (A) or 100 (B). J774-A1 cells were infected at a MOI of 100 (C). Phagocytic index representing levels of viable intracellular bacteria at 2 hours post-infection relative to the starting inoculum are expressed as the mean with standard errors from three

technical replicates from three to five experiments. Statistical significance was measured using a non-parametric one-way ANOVA statistical test (p>0.05, ns).



Figure 5. Bacteria opsonisation compensates for the loss of FimH. RAW264.7 cells (A) and J774-A1 cells (B) were infected with serum opsonised wild-type or $\Delta fimH$ mutant strains at a MOI of 100. Phagocytic index representing levels of viable intracellular bacteria at 2 hours post-infection relative to the starting inoculum are expressed as the mean with standard errors from three technical replicates from two to three experiments. Statistical significance was measured using a non-parametric one-way ANOVA statistical test (p>0.05, ns).



Figure 6. FimH may contribute to intracellular survival. RAW264.7 cells were infected with unopsonised bacteria at an MOI of 10 (A) or opsonised bacteria at an MOI of 100 (B). J774-A1 cells were infected at an MOI of 100 with either unopsonised (C) or opsonised bacteria (D). Fold survival representing levels of viable intracellular bacteria at 20 hours post-infection relative to 2 hours post-infection are expressed as the mean with standard errors from three technical replicates from two to three experiments. Statistical

significance was measured using a non-parametric one-way ANOVA statistical test (* indicates p<0.05, ns indicates p>0.05).



Figure 7. FimH does not affect tumour necrosis factor alpha secretion. RAW264.7 cells were either PBS-treated or infected at an MOI of 100 with unopsonised (A) or opsonised (B) bacteria or at an MOI of 10 with unopsonised bacteria (C). Cell supernatants were collected at 2 (A&B) or 20 hours post-infection (C). TNF- α levels were determined by ELISA and expressed as the mean with standard errors from three technical replicates from three to five experiments. # indicates MOI < 100. Statistical

significance was measured using a non-parametric one-way ANOVA statistical test (p>0.05, ns).



Figure 8. FimH contributes to persistence of NRG857c in CD-1 mice. Female CD-1 mice were orally infected with a 1:1 inoculum of NRG857c and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ or PBS on day 0. Bacteria colonization was monitored by fecal output (A, C, E) and intestinal organ burden (B, D, F). Body weight of infected (circle) and PBS-treated (square) mice was monitored over the course of infection and expressed as the mean with standard error (G). Competitive indices from the feces (A) and intestinal organs (B), total cfu counts in the feces (C) and intestinal organs (D) and relative levels of NRG857c (black square, solid line) and NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ (open circle, dotted line) in the feces (E) and intestinal organs (F) were determined. Horizontal lines represent the experimental mean. Data points were excluded if a fecal sample was not collected or if the bacteria burden was below the limit of detection. Data represents two independent experiments with five mice per experiment. Data from one independent experiment is shown on day 16 and 19. Statistical significance was measured using a one-sample t test (*** indicates p<0.001, ** indicates p<0.05, ns indicates not significant).



Figure 9. FimH contributes to persistence of LF82 in CD1 mice. Female CD-1 mice were orally infected with a 1:1 inoculum of LF82 and LF82 $\Delta fimH$ or PBS on day 0. Bacteria colonization was monitored by fecal output (A, C, E) and intestinal organ burden (B, D, F). Body weight of infected (circle) and PBS-treated (square) mice was monitored over the course of infection and expressed as the mean with standard error (G). Competitive indices from the feces (A) and intestinal organs (B), total cfu counts in the feces (C) and intestinal organs (D) and relative levels of LF82 (black square, solid line) and LF82 $\Delta fimH$ (open circle, dotted line) in the feces (E) and intestinal organs (F) were determined. Horizontal lines represent the experimental mean. Data points were excluded if a fecal sample was not collected or if the bacteria burden was below the limit of detection. Data represents one independent experiment with five mice. Statistical significance was measured using a one-sample t test (** indicates p<0.01, * indicates p<0.05, ns indicates not significant).

References

1. Abdul-Careem, M. F., M. Firoz Mian, A. E. Gillgrass, M. J. Chenoweth, N. G. Barra, T. Chan, A. A. Al-Garawi, M. V. Chew, G. Yue, N. van Roojen, Z. Xing, and A. A. Ashkar. 2011. FimH, a TLR4 ligand, induces innate antiviral responses in the lung leading to protection against lethal influenza infection in mice. Antiviral Res. 92:346-355.

2. Abraham, C. and J. H. Cho. 2006. Functional consequences of NOD2 (CARD15) mutations. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. **12:**641-650.

3. Abraham, J. M., C. S. Freitag, J. R. Clements, and B. I. Eisenstein. 1985. An invertible element of DNA controls phase variation of type 1 fimbriae of Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 82:5724-5727.

4. Agerer, F., S. Lux, A. Michel, M. Rohde, K. Ohlsen, and C. R. Hauck. 2005. Cellular invasion by Staphylococcus aureus reveals a functional link between focal adhesion kinase and cortactin in integrin-mediated internalisation. J. Cell. Sci. **118:**2189-2200.

5. Ahmad, T., A. Armuzzi, M. Bunce, K. Mulcahy-Hawes, S. E. Marshall, T. R. Orchard, J. Crawshaw, O. Large, A. de Silva, J. T. Cook, M. Barnardo, S. Cullen, K. I. Welsh, and D. P. Jewell. 2002. The molecular classification of the clinical manifestations of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology **122**:854-866.

6. Arnott, I. D., C. J. Landers, E. J. Nimmo, H. E. Drummond, B. K. Smith, S. R. Targan, and J. Satsangi. 2004. Sero-reactivity to microbial components in Crohn's disease is associated with disease severity and progression, but not NOD2/CARD15 genotype. Am. J. Gastroenterol. **99:**2376-2384.

7. Ashkar, A. A., K. L. Mossman, B. K. Coombes, C. L. Gyles, and R. Mackenzie. 2008. FimH adhesin of type 1 fimbriae is a potent inducer of innate antimicrobial responses which requires TLR4 and type 1 interferon signalling. PLoS Pathog. **4:**e1000233.

8. Baorto, D. M., Z. Gao, R. Malaviya, M. L. Dustin, A. van der Merwe, D. M. Lublin, and S. N. Abraham. 1997. Survival of FimH-expressing enterobacteria in macrophages relies on glycolipid traffic. Nature **389**:636-639.

9. Barnich, N., M. A. Bringer, L. Claret, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2004. Involvement of lipoprotein NlpI in the virulence of adherent invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 isolated from a patient with Crohn's disease. Infect. Immun. **72:**2484-2493.

10. **Barnich, N., J. Boudeau, L. Claret, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud.** 2003. Regulatory and functional co-operation of flagella and type 1 pili in adhesive and invasive abilities of AIEC strain LF82 isolated from a patient with Crohn's disease. Mol. Microbiol. **48:**781-794.

11. Barnich, N., F. A. Carvalho, A. L. Glasser, C. Darcha, P. Jantscheff, M. Allez, H. Peeters, G. Bommelaer, P. Desreumaux, J. F. Colombel, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2007. CEACAM6 acts as a receptor for adherent-invasive E. coli, supporting ileal mucosa colonization in Crohn disease. J. Clin. Invest. **117:**1566-1574.

12. Barreiro-de Acosta, M., J. E. Dominguez-Munoz, M. C. Nunez-Pardo de Vera, A. Lozano-Leon, A. Lorenzo, and S. Pena. 2007. Relationship between clinical features of Crohn's disease and the risk of developing extraintestinal manifestations. Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 19:73-78.

13. Baumgart, M., B. Dogan, M. Rishniw, G. Weitzman, B. Bosworth, R. Yantiss, R. H. Orsi, M. Wiedmann, P. McDonough, S. G. Kim, D. Berg, Y. Schukken, E. Scherl, and K. W. Simpson. 2007. Culture independent analysis of ileal mucosa reveals a

selective increase in invasive Escherichia coli of novel phylogeny relative to depletion of Clostridiales in Crohn's disease involving the ileum. ISME J. **1**:403-418.

14. **Bernstein, C. N. and F. Shanahan.** 2008. Disorders of a modern lifestyle: reconciling the epidemiology of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gut **57:**1185-1191.

15. Bernstein, C. N., A. Wajda, L. W. Svenson, A. MacKenzie, M. Koehoorn, M. Jackson, R. Fedorak, D. Israel, and J. F. Blanchard. 2006. The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: a population-based study. Am. J. Gastroenterol. **101:**1559-1568.

16. Biswas, A., Y. J. Liu, L. Hao, A. Mizoguchi, N. H. Salzman, C. L. Bevins, and K. S. Kobayashi. 2010. Induction and rescue of Nod2-dependent Th1-driven granulomatous inflammation of the ileum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **107**:14739-14744.

17. Bloom, S. M., V. N. Bijanki, G. M. Nava, L. Sun, N. P. Malvin, D. L. Donermeyer, W. M. Dunne Jr, P. M. Allen, and T. S. Stappenbeck. 2011. Commensal Bacteroides species induce colitis in host-genotype-specific fashion in a mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease. Cell. Host Microbe **9**:390-403.

18. **Boner, G., A. M. Mhashilkar, M. Rodriguez-Ortega, and N. Sharon.** 1989. Lectinmediated, nonopsonic phagocytosis of type 1 Escherichia coli by human peritoneal macrophages of uremic patients treated by peritoneal dialysis. J. Leukoc. Biol. **46:**239-245.

19. **Boudeau, J., N. Barnich, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud.** 2001. Type 1 pili-mediated adherence of Escherichia coli strain LF82 isolated from Crohn's disease is involved in bacterial invasion of intestinal epithelial cells. Mol. Microbiol. **39:**1272-1284.

20. **Boudeau, J., A. L. Glasser, E. Masseret, B. Joly, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud.** 1999. Invasive ability of an Escherichia coli strain isolated from the ileal mucosa of a patient with Crohn's disease. Infect. Immun. **67:**4499-4509.

21. Bringer, M. A., N. Rolhion, A. L. Glasser, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2007. The oxidoreductase DsbA plays a key role in the ability of the Crohn's disease-associated adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 to resist macrophage killing. J. Bacteriol. **189:**4860-4871.

22. Bringer, M. A., E. Billard, A. L. Glasser, J. F. Colombel, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2012. Replication of Crohn's disease-associated AIEC within macrophages is dependent on TNF-alpha secretion. Lab. Invest. **92:**411-419.

23. Bringer, M. A., A. L. Glasser, C. H. Tung, S. Meresse, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2006. The Crohn's disease-associated adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 replicates in mature phagolysosomes within J774 macrophages. Cell. Microbiol. **8:**471-484.

24. Burke, D. A. and A. T. Axon. 1988. Adhesive Escherichia coli in inflammatory bowel disease and infective diarrhoea. BMJ **297**:102-104.

25. Canto, E., E. Moga, E. Ricart, O. Garcia-Bosch, E. Garcia-Planella, C. Juarez, and S. Vidal. 2009. MDP-Induced selective tolerance to TLR4 ligands: impairment in NOD2 mutant Crohn's disease patients. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. **15**:1686-1696.

26. Cartun, R. W., H. J. Van Kruiningen, C. A. Pedersen, and M. M. Berman. 1993. An immunocytochemical search for infectious agents in Crohn's disease. Mod. Pathol. 6:212-219.

27. Carvalho, F. A., N. Barnich, A. Sivignon, C. Darcha, C. H. Chan, C. P. Stanners, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2009. Crohn's disease adherent-invasive Escherichia coli colonize and induce strong gut inflammation in transgenic mice expressing human CEACAM. J. Exp. Med. **206**:2179-2189.

28. Chan, C. H. and C. P. Stanners. 2004. Novel mouse model for carcinoembryonic antigen-based therapy. Mol. Ther. 9:775-785.

29. Chassaing, B., N. Rolhion, A. de Vallee, S. Y. Salim, M. Prorok-Hamon, C. Neut, B. J. Campbell, J. D. Soderholm, J. P. Hugot, J. F. Colombel, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2011. Crohn disease--associated adherent-invasive E. coli bacteria target mouse and human Peyer's patches via long polar fimbriae. J. Clin. Invest. **121**:966-975.

30. Chen, S. L., C. S. Hung, J. S. Pinkner, J. N. Walker, C. K. Cusumano, Z. Li, J. Bouckaert, J. I. Gordon, and S. J. Hultgren. 2009. Positive selection identifies an in vivo role for FimH during urinary tract infection in addition to mannose binding. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106:22439-22444.

31. Cho, J. H. 2008. The genetics and immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. **8:**458-466.

32. Choudhury, D., A. Thompson, V. Stojanoff, S. Langermann, J. Pinkner, S. J. Hultgren, and S. D. Knight. 1999. X-ray structure of the FimC-FimH chaperone-adhesin complex from uropathogenic Escherichia coli. Science **285**:1061-1066.

33. Clark, M. A., B. H. Hirst, and M. A. Jepson. 1998. M-cell surface beta1 integrin expression and invasin-mediated targeting of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis to mouse Peyer's patch M cells. Infect. Immun. 66:1237-1243.

34. Clark, M. A., B. H. Hirst, and M. A. Jepson. 1998. Inoculum composition and Salmonella pathogenicity island 1 regulate M-cell invasion and epithelial destruction by Salmonella typhimurium. Infect. Immun. **66**:724-731.

35. Clarke, D. J., R. R. Chaudhuri, H. M. Martin, B. J. Campbell, J. M. Rhodes, C. Constantinidou, M. J. Pallen, N. J. Loman, A. F. Cunningham, D. F. Browning, and I. R. Henderson. 2011. Complete genome sequence of the Crohn's disease-associated adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain HM605. J. Bacteriol. **193:**4540.

36. Conte, M. P., S. Schippa, I. Zamboni, M. Penta, F. Chiarini, L. Seganti, J. Osborn, P. Falconieri, O. Borrelli, and S. Cucchiara. 2006. Gut-associated bacterial microbiota in paediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gut **55**:1760-1767.

37. Crosnier, C., D. Stamataki, and J. Lewis. 2006. Organizing cell renewal in the intestine: stem cells, signals and combinatorial control. Nat. Rev. Genet. **7**:349-359.

38. Darfeuille-Michaud, A., J. Boudeau, P. Bulois, C. Neut, A. L. Glasser, N. Barnich, M. A. Bringer, A. Swidsinski, L. Beaugerie, and J. F. Colombel. 2004. High prevalence of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli associated with ileal mucosa in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology **127:**412-421.

39. Darfeuille-Michaud, A., C. Neut, N. Barnich, E. Lederman, P. Di Martino, P. Desreumaux, L. Gambiez, B. Joly, A. Cortot, and J. F. Colombel. 1998. Presence of adherent Escherichia coli strains in ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology **115**:1405-1413.

40. Datsenko, K. A. and B. L. Wanner. 2000. One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli K-12 using PCR products. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **97:**6640-6645.

41. Denizot, J., A. Sivignon, F. Barreau, C. Darcha, H. F. Chan, C. P. Stanners, P. Hofman, A. Darfeuille-Michaud, and N. Barnich. 2012. Adherent-invasive Escherichia coli induce claudin-2 expression and barrier defect in CEABAC10 mice and Crohn's disease patients. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. **18:**294-304.

42. **DUGUID, J. P.** 1959. Fimbriae and adhesive properties in Klebsiella strains. J. Gen. Microbiol. **21**:271-286.

43. **Duguid, J. P., E. S. Anderson, and I. Campbell.** 1966. Fimbriae and adhesive properties in Salmonellae. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. **92:**107-138.

44. **DUGUID, J. P., I. W. SMITH, G. DEMPSTER, and P. N. EDMUNDS.** 1955. Non-flagellar filamentous appendages (fimbriae) and haemagglutinating activity in Bacterium coli. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. **70:**335-348.

45. Eaves-Pyles, T., C. A. Allen, J. Taormina, A. Swidsinski, C. B. Tutt, G. E. Jezek, M. Islas-Islas, and A. G. Torres. 2008. Escherichia coli isolated from a Crohn's disease patient adheres, invades, and induces inflammatory responses in polarized intestinal epithelial cells. Int. J. Med. Microbiol. **298**:397-409.

46. **Eto, D. S., T. A. Jones, J. L. Sundsbak, and M. A. Mulvey.** 2007. Integrinmediated host cell invasion by type 1-piliated uropathogenic Escherichia coli. PLoS Pathog. **3:**e100.

47. Feller, M., K. Huwiler, A. Schoepfer, A. Shang, H. Furrer, and M. Egger. 2010. Long-term antibiotic treatment for Crohn's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of placebo-controlled trials. Clin. Infect. Dis. **50**:473-480.

48. Flynn, R. S., K. S. Murthy, J. R. Grider, J. M. Kellum, and J. F. Kuemmerle. 2010. Endogenous IGF-I and alphaVbeta3 integrin ligands regulate increased smooth muscle hyperplasia in stricturing Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology **138**:285-293.

49. Frank, D. N., A. L. St Amand, R. A. Feldman, E. C. Boedeker, N. Harpaz, and N. R. Pace. 2007. Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of microbial community imbalances in human inflammatory bowel diseases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104:13780-13785.

50. Gally, D. L., J. Leathart, and I. C. Blomfield. 1996. Interaction of FimB and FimE with the fim switch that controls the phase variation of type 1 fimbriae in Escherichia coli K-12. Mol. Microbiol. 21:725-738.

51. Giltner, C. L., N. Rana, M. N. Lunardo, A. Q. Hussain, and L. L. Burrows. 2011. Evolutionary and functional diversity of the Pseudomonas type IVa pilin island. Environ. Microbiol. **13**:250-264.

52. Girardin, S. E., I. G. Boneca, J. Viala, M. Chamaillard, A. Labigne, G. Thomas, D. J. Philpott, and P. J. Sansonetti. 2003. Nod2 is a general sensor of peptidoglycan through muramyl dipeptide (MDP) detection. J. Biol. Chem. **278**:8869-8872.

53. Glasser, A. L., J. Boudeau, N. Barnich, M. H. Perruchot, J. F. Colombel, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2001. Adherent invasive Escherichia coli strains from patients with Crohn's disease survive and replicate within macrophages without inducing host cell death. Infect. Immun. **69**:5529-5537.

54. Grimm, M. C., W. E. Pullman, G. M. Bennett, P. J. Sullivan, P. Pavli, and W. F. Doe. 1995. Direct evidence of monocyte recruitment to inflammatory bowel disease mucosa. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. **10**:387-395.

55. Halfvarson, J., T. Jess, L. Bodin, G. Jarnerot, P. Munkholm, V. Binder, and C. Tysk. 2007. Longitudinal concordance for clinical characteristics in a Swedish-Danish twin population with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. 13:1536-1544.

56. Hampe, J., A. Franke, P. Rosenstiel, A. Till, M. Teuber, K. Huse, M. Albrecht, G. Mayr, F. M. De La Vega, J. Briggs, S. Gunther, N. J. Prescott, C. M. Onnie, R. Hasler, B. Sipos, U. R. Folsch, T. Lengauer, M. Platzer, C. G. Mathew, M. Krawczak, and S. Schreiber. 2007. A genome-wide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. Nat. Genet. **39:**207-211.

57. Hamrick, T. S., E. A. Havell, J. R. Horton, and P. E. Orndorff. 2000. Host and bacterial factors involved in the innate ability of mouse macrophages to eliminate internalized unopsonized Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun. **68**:125-132.

58. Hamrick, T. S., A. H. Diaz, E. A. Havell, J. R. Horton, and P. E. Orndorff. 2003. Influence of extracellular bactericidal agents on bacteria within macrophages. Infect. Immun. **71**:1016-1019.

59. Hase, K., K. Kawano, T. Nochi, G. S. Pontes, S. Fukuda, M. Ebisawa, K. Kadokura, T. Tobe, Y. Fujimura, S. Kawano, A. Yabashi, S. Waguri, G. Nakato, S. Kimura, T. Murakami, M. Iimura, K. Hamura, S. Fukuoka, A. W. Lowe, K. Itoh, H. Kiyono, and H. Ohno. 2009. Uptake through glycoprotein 2 of FimH(+) bacteria by M cells initiates mucosal immune response. Nature **462**:226-230.

60. Hommais, F., S. Gouriou, C. Amorin, H. Bui, M. C. Rahimy, B. Picard, and E. Denamur. 2003. The FimH A27V mutation is pathoadaptive for urovirulence in Escherichia coli B2 phylogenetic group isolates. Infect. Immun. **71:**3619-3622.

61. Hugot, J. P., M. Chamaillard, H. Zouali, S. Lesage, J. P. Cezard, J. Belaiche, S. Almer, C. Tysk, C. A. O'Morain, M. Gassull, V. Binder, Y. Finkel, A. Cortot, R. Modigliani, P. Laurent-Puig, C. Gower-Rousseau, J. Macry, J. F. Colombel, M. Sahbatou, and G. Thomas. 2001. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature 411:599-603.

62. Hultgren, S. J., W. R. Schwan, A. J. Schaeffer, and J. L. Duncan. 1986. Regulation of production of type 1 pili among urinary tract isolates of Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun. **54:**613-620.

63. Iebba, V., M. P. Conte, M. S. Lepanto, G. Di Nardo, F. Santangelo, M. Aloi, V. Totino, M. Proietti Checchi, C. Longhi, S. Cucchiara, and S. Schippa. 2012. Microevolution in fimH gene of mucosa-associated Escherichia coli strains isolated from Inflammatory Bowel Disease pediatric patients. Infect. Immun. 64. Inohara, N., Y. Ogura, A. Fontalba, O. Gutierrez, F. Pons, J. Crespo, K. Fukase, S. Inamura, S. Kusumoto, M. Hashimoto, S. J. Foster, A. P. Moran, J. L. Fernandez-Luna, and G. Nunez. 2003. Host recognition of bacterial muramyl dipeptide mediated through NOD2. Implications for Crohn's disease. J. Biol. Chem. **278**:5509-5512.

65. **Isberg, R. R. and S. Falkow.** 1985. A single genetic locus encoded by Yersinia pseudotuberculosis permits invasion of cultured animal cells by Escherichia coli K-12. Nature **317:**262-264.

66. Isenmann, R., M. Schwarz, E. Rozdzinski, C. Christ, E. Schmidt, P. Augat, R. Marre, and H. G. Beger. 2002. Interaction of fibronectin and aggregation substance promotes adherence of Enterococcus faecalis to human colon. Dig. Dis. Sci. 47:462-468.

67. Izzo, R. S., K. Witkon, A. I. Chen, C. Hadjiyane, M. I. Weinstein, and C. Pellecchia. 1993. Neutrophil-activating peptide (interleukin-8) in colonic mucosa from patients with Crohn's disease. Scand. J. Gastroenterol. **28**:296-300.

68. Jones, C. H., J. S. Pinkner, A. V. Nicholes, L. N. Slonim, S. N. Abraham, and S. J. Hultgren. 1993. FimC is a periplasmic PapD-like chaperone that directs assembly of type 1 pili in bacteria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **90**:8397-8401.

69. Jones, C. H., J. S. Pinkner, R. Roth, J. Heuser, A. V. Nicholes, S. N. Abraham, and S. J. Hultgren. 1995. FimH adhesin of type 1 pili is assembled into a fibrillar tip structure in the Enterobacteriaceae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92:2081-2085.

70. Kamada, N., T. Hisamatsu, S. Okamoto, H. Chinen, T. Kobayashi, T. Sato, A. Sakuraba, M. T. Kitazume, A. Sugita, K. Koganei, K. S. Akagawa, and T. Hibi. 2008. Unique CD14 intestinal macrophages contribute to the pathogenesis of Crohn disease via IL-23/IFN-gamma axis. J. Clin. Invest. **118**:2269-2280.

71. Kappelman, M. D., S. L. Rifas-Shiman, K. Kleinman, D. Ollendorf, A. Bousvaros, R. J. Grand, and J. A. Finkelstein. 2007. The prevalence and geographic distribution of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in the United States. Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. **5**:1424-1429.

72. Keith, B. R., S. L. Harris, P. W. Russell, and P. E. Orndorff. 1990. Effect of type 1 piliation on in vitro killing of Escherichia coli by mouse peritoneal macrophages. Infect. Immun. **58**:3448-3454.

73. **Killian, M. L.** 2008. Hemagglutination assay for the avian influenza virus. Methods Mol. Biol. **436:**47-52.

74. **Klemm, P.** 1984. The fimA gene encoding the type-1 fimbrial subunit of Escherichia coli. Nucleotide sequence and primary structure of the protein. Eur. J. Biochem. **143**:395-399.

75. Klemm, P. and G. Christiansen. 1990. The fimD gene required for cell surface localization of Escherichia coli type 1 fimbriae. Mol. Gen. Genet. **220**:334-338.

76. Klemm, P., B. J. Jorgensen, B. Kreft, and G. Christiansen. 1995. The export systems of type 1 and F1C fimbriae are interchangeable but work in parental pairs. J. Bacteriol. **177:**621-627.

77. Kotlowski, R., C. N. Bernstein, S. Sepehri, and D. O. Krause. 2007. High prevalence of Escherichia coli belonging to the B2+D phylogenetic group in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut **56**:669-675.

78. Krause, D. O., A. C. Little, S. E. Dowd, and C. N. Bernstein. 2011. Complete genome sequence of adherent invasive Escherichia coli UM146 isolated from Ileal Crohn's disease biopsy tissue. J. Bacteriol. **193:**583.

79. Krogfelt, K. A., H. Bergmans, and P. Klemm. 1990. Direct evidence that the FimH protein is the mannose-specific adhesin of Escherichia coli type 1 fimbriae. Infect. Immun. 58:1995-1998.

80. Kuballa, P., A. Huett, J. D. Rioux, M. J. Daly, and R. J. Xavier. 2008. Impaired autophagy of an intracellular pathogen induced by a Crohn's disease associated ATG16L1 variant. PLoS One **3**:e3391.

81. Lapaquette, P., M. A. Bringer, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2012. Defects in autophagy favour adherent-invasive Escherichia coli persistence within macrophages leading to increased pro-inflammatory response. Cell. Microbiol. **14:**791-807.

82. Lapaquette, P., A. L. Glasser, A. Huett, R. J. Xavier, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2010. Crohn's disease-associated adherent-invasive E. coli are selectively favoured by impaired autophagy to replicate intracellularly. Cell. Microbiol. **12:**99-113.

83. Lefebre, M. D. and M. A. Valvano. 2002. Construction and evaluation of plasmid vectors optimized for constitutive and regulated gene expression in Burkholderia cepacia complex isolates. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **68:**5956-5964.

84. Li, Q., C. Wang, C. Tang, N. Li, and J. Li. 2012. Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of the microbiota in ulcerated and non-ulcerated regions in the patients with Crohn's disease. PLoS One 7:e34939.

85. Liu, Y., H. J. van Kruiningen, A. B. West, R. W. Cartun, A. Cortot, and J. F. Colombel. 1995. Immunocytochemical evidence of Listeria, Escherichia coli, and Streptococcus antigens in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology **108**:1396-1404.

86. Lloyd, A. L., D. A. Rasko, and H. L. Mobley. 2007. Defining genomic islands and uropathogen-specific genes in uropathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. **189:**3532-3546.

87. Loftus, E. V., Jr. 2004. Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: Incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences. Gastroenterology **126**:1504-1517.

88. Macpherson, A. J., M. B. Geuking, and K. D. McCoy. 2005. Immune responses that adapt the intestinal mucosa to commensal intestinal bacteria. Immunology **115**:153-162.

89. **Malaviya, R., Z. Gao, K. Thankavel, P. A. van der Merwe, and S. N. Abraham.** 1999. The mast cell tumor necrosis factor alpha response to FimH-expressing Escherichia coli is mediated by the glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored molecule CD48. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **96:**8110-8115.

90. Manichanh, C., L. Rigottier-Gois, E. Bonnaud, K. Gloux, E. Pelletier, L. Frangeul, R. Nalin, C. Jarrin, P. Chardon, P. Marteau, J. Roca, and J. Dore. 2006. Reduced diversity of faecal microbiota in Crohn's disease revealed by a metagenomic approach. Gut 55:205-211.

91. Martin, H. M., B. J. Campbell, C. A. Hart, C. Mpofu, M. Nayar, R. Singh, H. Englyst, H. F. Williams, and J. M. Rhodes. 2004. Enhanced Escherichia coli adherence and invasion in Crohn's disease and colon cancer. Gastroenterology **127**:80-93.

92. Martinez, J. J., M. A. Mulvey, J. D. Schilling, J. S. Pinkner, and S. J. Hultgren. 2000. Type 1 pilus-mediated bacterial invasion of bladder epithelial cells. EMBO J. **19:**2803-2812.

93. Martinez-Medina, M., X. Aldeguer, M. Lopez-Siles, F. Gonzalez-Huix, C. Lopez-Oliu, G. Dahbi, J. E. Blanco, J. Blanco, L. J. Garcia-Gil, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2009. Molecular diversity of Escherichia coli in the human gut: new ecological evidence supporting the role of adherent-invasive E. coli (AIEC) in Crohn's disease. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. **15**:872-882.

94. McCarroll, S. A., A. Huett, P. Kuballa, S. D. Chilewski, A. Landry, P. Goyette, M. C. Zody, J. L. Hall, S. R. Brant, J. H. Cho, R. H. Duerr, M. S. Silverberg, K. D. Taylor, J. D. Rioux, D. Altshuler, M. J. Daly, and R. J. Xavier. 2008. Deletion polymorphism upstream of IRGM associated with altered IRGM expression and Crohn's disease. Nat. Genet.
95. Miquel, S., L. Claret, R. Bonnet, I. Dorboz, N. Barnich, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2010. Role of decreased levels of Fis histone-like protein in Crohn's diseaseassociated adherent invasive Escherichia coli LF82 bacteria interacting with intestinal epithelial cells. J. Bacteriol. **192:**1832-1843.

96. Miquel, S., E. Peyretaillade, L. Claret, A. de Vallee, C. Dossat, B. Vacherie, H. Zineb el, B. Segurens, V. Barbe, P. Sauvanet, C. Neut, J. F. Colombel, C. Medigue, F. J. Mojica, P. Peyret, R. Bonnet, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2010. Complete genome sequence of Crohn's disease-associated adherent-invasive E. coli strain LF82. PLoS One 5:e12714.

97. Monteleone, G., L. Biancone, R. Marasco, G. Morrone, O. Marasco, F. Luzza, and F. Pallone. 1997. Interleukin 12 is expressed and actively released by Crohn's disease intestinal lamina propria mononuclear cells. Gastroenterology **112**:1169-1178.

98. Morson, B. S. 1968. Histopathology of Crohn's disease. Proc. R. Soc. Med. 61:79-81.

99. Mossman, K. L., M. F. Mian, N. M. Lauzon, C. L. Gyles, B. Lichty, R. Mackenzie, N. Gill, and A. A. Ashkar. 2008. Cutting edge: FimH adhesin of type 1 fimbriae is a novel TLR4 ligand. J. Immunol. **181:**6702-6706.

100. Mow, W. S., C. J. Landers, A. H. Steinhart, B. G. Feagan, K. Croitoru, E. Seidman, G. R. Greenberg, and S. R. Targan. 2004. High-level serum antibodies to bacterial antigens are associated with antibiotic-induced clinical remission in Crohn's disease: a pilot study. Dig. Dis. Sci. **49**:1280-1286.

101. Mow, W. S., E. A. Vasiliauskas, Y. C. Lin, P. R. Fleshner, K. A. Papadakis, K. D. Taylor, C. J. Landers, M. T. Abreu-Martin, J. I. Rotter, H. Yang, and S. R. Targan. 2004. Association of antibody responses to microbial antigens and complications of small bowel Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology **126**:414-424.

102. Muenzner, P., M. Rohde, S. Kneitz, and C. R. Hauck. 2005. CEACAM engagement by human pathogens enhances cell adhesion and counteracts bacteria-induced detachment of epithelial cells. J. Cell Biol. **170**:825-836.

103. **Mulvey, M. A., J. D. Schilling, and S. J. Hultgren.** 2001. Establishment of a persistent Escherichia coli reservoir during the acute phase of a bladder infection. Infect. Immun. **69:**4572-4579.

104. Mysorekar, I. U. and S. J. Hultgren. 2006. Mechanisms of uropathogenicEscherichia coli persistence and eradication from the urinary tract. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U. S. A. 103:14170-14175.

105. Nash, J. H., A. Villegas, A. M. Kropinski, R. Aguilar-Valenzuela, P. Konczy, M. Mascarenhas, K. Ziebell, A. G. Torres, M. A. Karmali, and B. K. Coombes. 2010. Genome sequence of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli and comparative genomic analysis with other E. coli pathotypes. BMC Genomics **11**:667.

106. Negroni, A., M. Costanzo, R. Vitali, F. Superti, L. Bertuccini, A. Tinari, F. Minelli, G. Di Nardo, F. Nuti, M. Pierdomenico, S. Cucchiara, and L. Stronati. 2012. Characterization of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli isolated from pediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. 18:913-924.

107. Neut, C., P. Bulois, P. Desreumaux, J. M. Membre, E. Lederman, L. Gambiez, A. Cortot, P. Quandalle, H. van Kruiningen, and J. F. Colombel. 2002. Changes in the bacterial flora of the neoterminal ileum after ileocolonic resection for Crohn's disease. Am. J. Gastroenterol. **97**:939-946.

108. Ofek, I., D. Mirelman, and N. Sharon. 1977. Adherence of Escherichia coli to human mucosal cells mediated by mannose receptors. Nature **265**:623-625.

109. Ogura, Y., D. K. Bonen, N. Inohara, D. L. Nicolae, F. F. Chen, R. Ramos, H. Britton, T. Moran, R. Karaliuskas, R. H. Duerr, J. P. Achkar, S. R. Brant, T. M. Bayless, B. S. Kirschner, S. B. Hanauer, G. Nunez, and J. H. Cho. 2001. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature **411**:603-606.

110. Ordonez, C., A. B. Zhai, P. Camacho-Leal, L. Demarte, M. M. Fan, and C. P. Stanners. 2007. GPI-anchored CEA family glycoproteins CEA and CEACAM6 mediate their biological effects through enhanced integrin alpha5beta1-fibronectin interaction. J. Cell. Physiol. **210**:757-765.

111. **Orel, R., T. Kamhi, G. Vidmar, and P. Mamula.** 2009. Epidemiology of pediatric chronic inflammatory bowel disease in central and western Slovenia, 1994-2005. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. **48:**579-586.

112. **Orndorff, P. E. and S. Falkow.** 1984. Organization and expression of genes responsible for type 1 piliation in Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. **159:**736-744.

113. Ozeri, V., I. Rosenshine, A. Ben-Ze'Ev, G. M. Bokoch, T. S. Jou, and E. Hanski. 2001. De novo formation of focal complex-like structures in host cells by invading Streptococci. Mol. Microbiol. **41:**561-573.

114. Phan, G., H. Remaut, T. Wang, W. J. Allen, K. F. Pirker, A. Lebedev, N. S. Henderson, S. Geibel, E. Volkan, J. Yan, M. B. Kunze, J. S. Pinkner, B. Ford, C. W. Kay, H. Li, S. J. Hultgren, D. G. Thanassi, and G. Waksman. 2011. Crystal structure of the FimD usher bound to its cognate FimC-FimH substrate. Nature **474**:49-53.

115. Pinsk, V., D. A. Lemberg, K. Grewal, C. C. Barker, R. A. Schreiber, and K. Jacobson. 2007. Inflammatory bowel disease in the South Asian pediatric population of British Columbia. Am. J. Gastroenterol. **102**:1077-1083.

116. **Plancon, L., L. Du Merle, S. Le Friec, P. Gounon, M. Jouve, J. Guignot, A. Servin, and C. Le Bouguenec.** 2003. Recognition of the cellular beta1-chain integrin by the bacterial AfaD invasin is implicated in the internalization of afa-expressing pathogenic Escherichia coli strains. Cell. Microbiol. **5**:681-693.

117. Podolsky, D. K. 2002. Inflammatory bowel disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 347:417-429.

118. **Ralph, P. and I. Nakoinz.** 1975. Phagocytosis and cytolysis by a macrophage tumour and its cloned cell line. Nature **257**:393-394.

119. **Raschke, W. C., S. Baird, P. Ralph, and I. Nakoinz.** 1978. Functional macrophage cell lines transformed by Abelson leukemia virus. Cell **15**:261-267.

120. **Rolhion, N., F. A. Carvalho, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud.** 2007. OmpC and the sigma(E) regulatory pathway are involved in adhesion and invasion of the Crohn's disease-associated Escherichia coli strain LF82. Mol. Microbiol. **63:**1684-1700.

121. **Rolhion, N., N. Barnich, L. Claret, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud.** 2005. Strong decrease in invasive ability and outer membrane vesicle release in Crohn's disease-associated adherent-invasive Escherichia coli strain LF82 with the yfgL gene deleted. J. Bacteriol. **187:**2286-2296.

122. Rolhion, N., N. Barnich, M. A. Bringer, A. L. Glasser, J. Ranc, X. Hebuterne, P. Hofman, and A. Darfeuille-Michaud. 2010. Abnormally expressed ER stress response chaperone Gp96 in CD favours adherent-invasive Escherichia coli invasion. Gut **59:**1355-1362.

123. Rutgeerts, P., K. Goboes, M. Peeters, M. Hiele, F. Penninckx, R. Aerts, R. Kerremans, and G. Vantrappen. 1991. Effect of faecal stream diversion on recurrence of Crohn's disease in the neoterminal ileum. Lancet **338**:771-774.

124. Ryan, P., R. G. Kelly, G. Lee, J. K. Collins, G. C. O'Sullivan, J. O'Connell, and F. Shanahan. 2004. Bacterial DNA within granulomas of patients with Crohn's disease--detection by laser capture microdissection and PCR. Am. J. Gastroenterol. **99**:1539-1543.

125. **Salit, I. E. and E. C. Gotschlich.** 1977. Hemagglutination by purified type I Escherichia coli pili. J. Exp. Med. **146**:1169-1181.

126. **Sansonetti, P. J. and A. Phalipon.** 1999. M cells as ports of entry for enteroinvasive pathogens: mechanisms of interaction, consequences for the disease process. Semin. Immunol. **11**:193-203.

127. **Sartor, R. B.** 2008. Microbial influences in inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology **134:**577-594.

128. **Sartor, R. B.** 2006. Mechanisms of disease: pathogenesis of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Nat. Clin. Pract. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. **3**:390-407.

129. Saulino, E. T., D. G. Thanassi, J. S. Pinkner, and S. J. Hultgren. 1998. Ramifications of kinetic partitioning on usher-mediated pilus biogenesis. EMBO J. 17:2177-2185.

130. Schembri, M. A., G. Christiansen, and P. Klemm. 2001. FimH-mediated autoaggregation of Escherichia coli. Mol. Microbiol. **41**:1419-1430.

131. Schilling, J. D., M. A. Mulvey, and S. J. Hultgren. 2001. Structure and function of Escherichia coli type 1 pili: new insight into the pathogenesis of urinary tract infections. J. Infect. Dis. 183 Suppl 1:S36-40.

132. Schreiber, S., S. Nikolaus, J. Hampe, J. Hamling, I. Koop, B. Groessner, H. Lochs, and A. Raedler. 1999. Tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1beta in relapse of Crohn's disease. Lancet **353**:459-461.

133. Secott, T. E., T. L. Lin, and C. C. Wu. 2004. Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis fibronectin attachment protein facilitates M-cell targeting and invasion through a fibronectin bridge with host integrins. Infect. Immun. **72:**3724-3732.

134. Sellon, R. K., S. Tonkonogy, M. Schultz, L. A. Dieleman, W. Grenther, E. Balish, D. M. Rennick, and R. B. Sartor. 1998. Resident enteric bacteria are necessary for development of spontaneous colitis and immune system activation in interleukin-10-deficient mice. Infect. Immun. 66:5224-5231.

135. Sepehri, S., E. Khafipour, C. N. Bernstein, B. K. Coombes, A. V. Pilar, M. Karmali, K. Ziebell, and D. O. Krause. 2010. Characterization of Escherichia coli isolated from gut biopsies of newly diagnosed patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm. Bowel Dis.

136. Simonsen, K. T., G. Nielsen, J. V. Bjerrum, T. Kruse, B. H. Kallipolitis, and J. Moller-Jensen. 2011. A role for the RNA chaperone Hfq in controlling adherent-invasive Escherichia coli colonization and virulence. PLoS One 6:e16387.

137. Simpson, K. W., B. Dogan, M. Rishniw, R. E. Goldstein, S. Klaessig, P. L. McDonough, A. J. German, R. M. Yates, D. G. Russell, S. E. Johnson, D. E. Berg, J. Harel, G. Bruant, S. P. McDonough, and Y. H. Schukken. 2006. Adherent and invasive Escherichia coli is associated with granulomatous colitis in boxer dogs. Infect. Immun. **74**:4778-4792.

138. Smith, A. M., F. Z. Rahman, B. Hayee, S. J. Graham, D. J. Marks, G. W. Sewell, C. D. Palmer, J. Wilde, B. M. Foxwell, I. S. Gloger, T. Sweeting, M. Marsh, A. P. Walker, S. L. Bloom, and A. W. Segal. 2009. Disordered macrophage cytokine secretion underlies impaired acute inflammation and bacterial clearance in Crohn's disease. J. Exp. Med. **206**:1883-1897.

139. Smith, P. D., L. E. Smythies, R. Shen, T. Greenwell-Wild, M. Gliozzi, and S. M. Wahl. 2011. Intestinal macrophages and response to microbial encroachment. Mucosal Immunol. **4**:31-42.

140. Smith, P. D., L. E. Smythies, M. Mosteller-Barnum, D. A. Sibley, M. W. Russell, M. Merger, M. T. Sellers, J. M. Orenstein, T. Shimada, M. F. Graham, and H. Kubagawa. 2001. Intestinal macrophages lack CD14 and CD89 and consequently are down-regulated for LPS- and IgA-mediated activities. J. Immunol. 167:2651-2656.

141. Smythies, L. E., M. Sellers, R. H. Clements, M. Mosteller-Barnum, G. Meng, W. H. Benjamin, J. M. Orenstein, and P. D. Smith. 2005. Human intestinal macrophages display profound inflammatory anergy despite avid phagocytic and bacteriocidal activity. J. Clin. Invest. 115:66-75.

142. Smythies, L. E., R. Shen, D. Bimczok, L. Novak, R. H. Clements, D. E. Eckhoff, P. Bouchard, M. D. George, W. K. Hu, S. Dandekar, and P. D. Smith. 2010. Inflammation anergy in human intestinal macrophages is due to Smad-induced IkappaBalpha expression and NF-kappaB inactivation. J. Biol. Chem. **285**:19593-19604.

143. Sokurenko, E. V., H. S. Courtney, J. Maslow, A. Siitonen, and D. L. Hasty. 1995. Quantitative differences in adhesiveness of type 1 fimbriated Escherichia coli due to structural differences in fimH genes. J. Bacteriol. **177:**3680-3686.

144. Sokurenko, E. V., H. S. Courtney, D. E. Ohman, P. Klemm, and D. L. Hasty. 1994. FimH family of type 1 fimbrial adhesins: functional heterogeneity due to minor sequence variations among fimH genes. J. Bacteriol. **176**:748-755.

145. Sokurenko, E. V., V. Chesnokova, D. E. Dykhuizen, I. Ofek, X. R. Wu, K. A. Krogfelt, C. Struve, M. A. Schembri, and D. L. Hasty. 1998. Pathogenic adaptation of Escherichia coli by natural variation of the FimH adhesin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **95:**8922-8926.

146. **Spehlmann, M. E., A. Z. Begun, J. Burghardt, P. Lepage, A. Raedler, and S. Schreiber.** 2008. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in a German twin cohort: results of a nationwide study. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. **14**:968-976.

147. Stow, J. L., P. C. Low, C. Offenhauser, and D. Sangermani. 2009. Cytokine secretion in macrophages and other cells: pathways and mediators. Immunobiology **214**:601-612.

148. Subramanian, S., C. L. Roberts, C. A. Hart, H. M. Martin, S. W. Edwards, J. M. Rhodes, and B. J. Campbell. 2008. Replication of Colonic Crohn's Disease Mucosal Escherichia coli Isolates within Macrophages and Their Susceptibility to Antibiotics. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **52**:427-434.

149. Swidsinski, A., A. Ladhoff, A. Pernthaler, S. Swidsinski, V. Loening-Baucke, M. Ortner, J. Weber, U. Hoffmann, S. Schreiber, M. Dietel, and H. Lochs. 2002. Mucosal flora in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology **122**:44-54.

150. **Tabaqchali, S., D. P. O'Donoghue, and K. A. Bettelheim.** 1978. Escherichia coli antibodies in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gut **19:**108-113.

151. **Tyrer, P., A. R. Foxwell, A. W. Cripps, M. A. Apicella, and J. M. Kyd.** 2006. Microbial pattern recognition receptors mediate M-cell uptake of a gram-negative bacterium. Infect. Immun. **74:**625-631.

152. **Tysk, C., E. Lindberg, G. Jarnerot, and B. Floderus-Myrhed.** 1988. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease in an unselected population of monozygotic and dizygotic twins. A study of heritability and the influence of smoking. Gut **29:**990-996.

153. van Heel, D. A., S. Ghosh, M. Butler, K. A. Hunt, A. M. Lundberg, T. Ahmad, D. P. McGovern, C. Onnie, K. Negoro, S. Goldthorpe, B. M. Foxwell, C. G. Mathew, A. Forbes, D. P. Jewell, and R. J. Playford. 2005. Muramyl dipeptide and toll-like receptor sensitivity in NOD2-associated Crohn's disease. Lancet **365**:1794-1796.

154. van Putten, J. P., T. D. Duensing, and R. L. Cole. 1998. Entry of OpaA+ gonococci into HEp-2 cells requires concerted action of glycosaminoglycans, fibronectin and integrin receptors. Mol. Microbiol. **29:**369-379.

155. Veltkamp, C., S. L. Tonkonogy, Y. P. De Jong, C. Albright, W. B. Grenther, E. Balish, C. Terhorst, and R. B. Sartor. 2001. Continuous stimulation by normal luminal bacteria is essential for the development and perpetuation of colitis in Tg(epsilon26) mice. Gastroenterology **120**:900-913.

156. Wassef, J. S., D. F. Keren, and J. L. Mailloux. 1989. Role of M cells in initial antigen uptake and in ulcer formation in the rabbit intestinal loop model of shigellosis. Infect. Immun. **57:**858-863.

157. Wehkamp, J., J. Harder, M. Weichenthal, M. Schwab, E. Schaffeler, M. Schlee, K. R. Herrlinger, A. Stallmach, F. Noack, P. Fritz, J. M. Schroder, C. L. Bevins, K. Fellermann, and E. F. Stange. 2004. NOD2 (CARD15) mutations in Crohn's disease are associated with diminished mucosal alpha-defensin expression. Gut **53**:1658-1664.

158. Wine, E., J. C. Ossa, S. D. Gray-Owen, and P. M. Sherman. 2009. Adherentinvasive Escherichia coli, strain LF82 disrupts apical junctional complexes in polarized epithelia. BMC Microbiol. **9**:180.

159. Wright, K. J., P. C. Seed, and S. J. Hultgren. 2007. Development of intracellular bacterial communities of uropathogenic Escherichia coli depends on type 1 pili. Cell. Microbiol. 9:2230-2241.

160. Zeissig, S., N. Burgel, D. Gunzel, J. Richter, J. Mankertz, U. Wahnschaffe, A. J. Kroesen, M. Zeitz, M. Fromm, and J. D. Schulzke. 2007. Changes in expression and distribution of claudin 2, 5 and 8 lead to discontinuous tight junctions and barrier dysfunction in active Crohn's disease. Gut **56:**61-72.

161. Zheng, J. J., X. S. Zhu, Z. Huangfu, X. H. Shi, and Z. R. Guo. 2010. Prevalence and incidence rates of Crohn's disease in mainland China: a meta-analysis of 55 years of research. J. Dig. Dis. **11**:161-166.

162. **Zverev, V.V., and I.A. Khmel.** 1985. The nucleotide sequences of the replication origins of plasmids ColA and ColD. Plasmid. **14**:192-199.

Appendix

List of Strains Made NRG857c pBADGr...BKC 31-59, 60 NRG857c $\Delta fimH$...BKC 31-49, 50 NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ clone B (not used in experiments)...BKC 31-51, 52 NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ pBADGr...BKC 31-61, 62 NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ pNRGfimH...BKC 31-63, 64 NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ pLF82fimH...BKC 31-65, 66 NRG857c $\Delta fimH$ pK12fimH...BKC 31-67, 68 LF82 pBADGr...BKC 31-69, 70 LF82 $\Delta fimH$...BKC 31-53, 54 LF82 $\Delta fimH$ pNRGfimH...BKC 31-71, 72 LF82 $\Delta fimH$ pNRGfimH...BKC 31-73, 74 LF82 Δ*fimH* pLF82fimH...BKC 31-75, 76 LF82 Δ*fimH* pK12-fimH...BKC 31-77, 78 K-12 pBADGr...BKC 32-2, 3 K-12 ∆*fimH*...BKC 31-55, 56 K-12 Δ*fimH* pBADGr...BKC 32-4, 5 K-12 Δ*fimH* pNRGfimH...BKC 32-6, 7 K-12 Δ*fimH* pLF82fimH...BKC 32-8, 9 K-12 Δ*fimH* pK12fimH...BKC 32-10, 11 DH5a pNRGfimH...BKC 32-12, 13 DH5a pLF82fimH...BKC 32-14, 15 DH5a pK12fimH...BKC 32-16, 17 DH5 α λ pir pRE112-Gen...BKC 32-24, 25 DH5a pNRGFimHC-His...BKC 32-18, 19 DH5a pLF82FimHC-His...BKC 32-20, 21 DH5a pK12FimHC-His...BKC 32-22, 23 DH5a pNRGFimC-His DH5a pK12FimC-His DH5a pNRGFimC-GGA-His

List of Plasmids Made

pNRGfimH

NRG857c *fimH* cloned into MCS of pBADGr

pLF82fimH

LF82 fimH cloned into MCS of pBADGr

pK12fimH

K-12 fimH cloned into MCS of pBADGr

pRE112-Gen

pRE112 encoding the gentamicin resistance cassette from pUCGm

pNRGFimHC-His

NRG857c *fimH* cloned into MCS1 and NRG857c *fimC*-His cloned into MCS2 of pCOLADuet-1 (Novagen)

pLF82FimHC-His

LF82 *fimH* cloned into MCS1 and NRG857c *fimC*-His cloned into MCS2 of pCOLADuet-1

pK12FimHC-His

K-12 *fimH* cloned into MCS1 and K-12 *fimC* cloned into MCS2 of pCOLADuet-1 pNRGFimC-His

NRG857c fimC-His cloned into MCS2 of pCOLADuet-1

pK12FimC-His

K-12 fimC-His cloned into MCS2 of pCOLADuet-1

pNRGFimC-GGA-His

NRG857c truncated *fimC*-His lacking the N-terminal periplasmic signal sequence cloned into MCS2 of pCOLADuet-1

List of Primers

Construction of ΔfimH strains using Lambda Red recombination (40) AIECfimHfwd 5' – ACAGCTGAACCCGAAGAGATGATTGTAATGAAACGAGTTGTGTA – 3' AIECfimHrev 5' – ACCTGCATTAGCAATGCCCTGTGATTTCTTTATTGATAAACCATA – 3' K12fimHfwd 5' – ACAGCTGAACCCGAAGAGAGATGATTCTAATGAAACGAGTTGTGTA – 3' K12fimHrev 5' – ACCAGCATTAGCAATGTCCTGTGATTTCTTTATTGATAAACCATA – 3'

Screening Δ fimH mutant strains fimHscrfwd2 5' - GTGGCAACACATTGAATACTGG - 3' AIECfimHrev2 5' - TCGGATTGTCGGTAAAGTGC - 3' K12fimHrev2 5' - GGAACAGACCAGCAAAGTGC - 3'

Screening fimH in CDEC isolates AIECfimHscrfwd 5' – GCTGAACCCCGAAGAGATG – 3' AIECfimHscrrev 5' – GCAATGCCCTGTGATTTCTTT – 3'

Construction of fimH complementation vectors in pBADGr BluefimHfwd 5' – GTCCGAATTCATGAAACGAGTTATTACCCTGTT – 3' BluefimHrev 5' – ATCCTCTAGATTATTGATAAACAAAAGTCACGC – 3'

Screening fimH complementation vectors BADF 5' – AAGTGTCTATAATCACGGCAGA – 3' BADR 5 – TCACTTGAGTTCGGCTGG – 3'

Construction of pRE112-Gen pUCGmF-2 5'- ATGCGGGCCCATTGACATAAGCCTGTTCGGTT – 3' pUCGmR 5' – GATCGGGCCCTTAGGTGGCGGTACTTGGGTC – 3'

Construction of FimH-FimC-His purification vectors in pCola-Duet Primers to amplify *fimH* to clone into MCS1 minus N-terminal His tag fimHpurFNcoI 5' – ATGCCCATGGGCATGAAACGAGTTATTACCCTGTT – 3' DuetfimHrev 5' – ATCCGTCGACTTATTGATAAACAAAAGTCACGC – 3'

Primers to amplify *fimC* with a C-terminal His tag to clone into MCS2 fimCpurF 5' – GCTTATCCAGATCTAGTGAGTAATAAAAACGTCAATGTAAG – 3' fimCHispurR 5' – ATGCCTCGAGTTAGTGATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGATGTCCATTACGCCCGTCATTTT – 3'

Primers to amplify *fimC* with a C-terminal His tag minus periplasmic signal sequence to clone into MCS2

fimCpurfwdGGA: 5' – GCTTATCCAGATCTAGGAGTGGCCTTAGGTGCGACT – 3' fimCHispurR: 5' – ATGCCTCGAGTTAGTGATGGTGATGGTGATGTTCCATTACGCCCGTCATTTT – 3'

Screening FimH-FimC-His purification vectors Multiple cloning site 1 DuetUP1 5' – GGATCTCGACGCTCTCCCT – 3' DuetDOWN1 5' – GATTATGCGGCCGTGTACAA – 3'

Multiple cloning site 2 DuetUP2 5' – TTGTACACGGCCGCATAATC – 3' DuetDOWN2 5' – GCTAGTTATTGCTCAGCGG – 3'

Sequencing fimH in CDEC isolates AIECfimHscrfwd 5' – GCTGAACCCGAAGAGATG – 3' AIECfimHscrrev 5' – GCAATGCCCTGTGATTTCTTT – 3'

Construction of fimH *allelic exchange vectors* (primer design only) Amplification of *fimH* fimHF 5' – ATGAAACGAGTTATTACCCTGTT – 3' fimHR 5' – TTATTGATAAACAAAAGTCACGCC – 3'

Amplification of *fimH* flanking regions in NRG857c and LF82 AIECflankF1 5' – GATC<u>TCTAGA</u>CGGCTATGTCAGAGATAATGGCT – 3' AIECflankR1 5' – *CAAACAGGGTAATAACTCGTTTCAT*TACAATCATCTCTTCGGGGTTCAG – 3' AIECflankF2 5' – *TGGCGTGACTTTTGTTTATCAATAA*AGAAATCACAGGGCATTGCTAAT – 3' AIECflankR2 5' – GATC<u>GAGCTC</u>ATCCACTGCTCATAGTTGCCA – 3'

Primers F1 and R1 amplify a 977 base pair region directly upstream of *fimH* Primers F2 and R2 amplify a 973 base pair region directly downstream of *fimH* Underlined base pairs are selected restriction enzyme sites Italicized base pairs are complementary regions to *fimH*

Amplification of *fimH* flanking regions in K-12 K12flankF1 5' – GATC<u>TCTAGA</u>GCTATGTCAGGGATAACGGCT – 3' K12flankR15' – *CAAACAGGGTAATAACTCGTTTCAT*TACAATCATCTCTTCGGGTTCAG – 3' K12flankF2 5' – *TGGCGTGACTTTTGTTTATCAATAA*AGAAATCACAGGACATTGCTAAT – 3' K12flankR2 5' – GATC<u>GAGCTC</u>GCCATCATTCCTGAAAGCA – 3'

MSc Thesis – L.E. Wallar; McMaster University – Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences

Primers F1 and R1 amplify a 975 base pair region directly upstream of *fimH* Primers F2 and R2 amplify a 966 base pair region directly downstream of *fimH* Underlined base pairs are selected restriction enzyme sites Italicized base pairs are complementary regions to *fimH*

Methods

Construction of suicide vector pRE112-Gen

The gentamicin resistance cassette was PCR amplified from pUCGm (NCBI GI: 440199) using the primers pUCGmF-2 and pUCGmR and PCR cycling conditions: 94°C 1 minute, 52°C 1 minute, 68°C 1 minute. The PCR product and the suicide vector pRE112 were digested with ApaI (New England Biolabs, Canada), ligated together and transformed into chemically competent DH5 α λ pir cells. Successful clones were selected on gentamicin (15 µg/mL).

Construction of FimH-FimC-His and FimC-His expression vectors

To clone into the multiple cloning site-1 of the expression vector pCOLADuet-1 (162), *fimH* was PCR amplified from NRG857c, LF82 and K-12 genomic DNA using the primers fimHpurFNcoI and PCR cycling conditions: 94°C 1 minute, 53°C 1 minute, 68°C 1 minute. The PCR product and the cloning vector pCOLADuet-1 were digested with NcoI (New England Biolabs, Canada) and SalI (New England Biolabs, Canada), ligated together and transformed into chemically competent DH5 α cells. Clones were selected on kanamycin (50 µg/mL) and sequenced using the primers DuetUP1 and DuetDOWN1.

To clone *fimC*-His into the multiple cloning site-2, *fimC* was PCR amplified from genomic DNA using fimCpurF and fimCHispurR and PCR cycling conditions: 94°C 1 minute, 55°C 1 minute, 68°C 1 minute. To clone truncated *fimC*-His lacking the

periplasmic signal sequence, the primers fimCpurfwdGGA and fimCHispurR and the same PCR cycling conditions were used. The PCR product and pCOLADuet-1 were digested with BgIII (New England Biolabs, Canada) and XhoI (New England Biolabs, Canada), ligated together and transformed into chemically competent DH5 α cells. Clones were selected on kanamycin (50 µg/mL) and sequenced using the primers DuetUP2 and DuetDOWN2.

Sequencing *fimH* in CDEC isolates BKC 28-1, 28-3, 28-21 and 28-42

fimH was PCR amplified from genomic DNA using the primers AIECfimHscrfwd and AIECfimHscrrev and PCR cycling conditions: 94°C 5 minutes, [94°C 1 minute, 51°C 1 minute, 68°C 1 minute] x 35 cycles. PCR products were purified using the Qiaquick PCR Purification kit and sequenced using the same primers. Sequences were analyzed using ClustalW2.

Western blot analysis of FimC-His expression

pNRGFimC-His and pK12FimC-His plasmids were transformed into BL21-DE3 chemically competent cells. Clones were selected on kanamycin (50 μ g/mL). Strains were grown overnight in 3mL LB + kanamycin, and subcultured 1:100 into 5 mL LB + kanamycin and grown for 3.5 hours. Cells were induced with 1mM isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside for 3 hours. Both uninduced and induced samples were collected, spun down and resuspended in 20 μ L of 5X sample buffer. 5 μ L of sample was separated on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was either stained with Coomassie Blue R-250 or

transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane which was blocked for one hour with 5% skim milk solution and probed with 1:2500 mouse anti-His antibody (Sigma) overnight at 4°C. The membrane was washed three times with Tris-buffered saline, 0.1% Tween-20 (TBST), incubated with 1:5000 anti-mouse secondary antibody for 1 hour, washed three times with TBST and developed using a 30 second exposure time.

Purification of FimHC-His complex (protocol developed and purification performed by Kun Zhang)

pNRGFimHC-His was transformed into BL21-DE3 chemically competent cells. Clones were selected on kanamycin (50 µg/mL). Several colonies were inoculated into 10mL LB + kanamycin and grown overnight. Bacteria were sub-cultured 1:100 into 2L of LB media containing kanamycin (50 µg/mL). Bacteria were incubated at 37°C with aeration until $OD_{600} \sim 0.6$. 1mM isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside was added and bacteria were grown for 3 hours at 37°C with aeration. Cells were harvested and resuspended in NiA buffer (40mM Tris, pH 7.5, 500mM NaCl). Cells were sonicated three times (energy transfer ~3000J). A protease inhibitor cocktail containing phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, pepstatin A, leupeptin and benzamidine was added before and after sonication to prevent proteolytic degradation. Cells were spun down (9000 rpm, 1hr, 4°C, FX6100 rotor). Supernatant was collected and spun down (13600 rpm, 12 minutes). Supernatant was collected and incubated with leupeptin, benzamidine and DNAse at room temperature for 3 min. Supernatant was filtered using 0.2 micron filter.

MSc Thesis – L.E. Wallar; McMaster University – Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences

Ni-Nitrilotriacetic acid beads were equilibrated with 50mL NiA buffer. Filtered supernatant was added onto the column. The column was washed with 100mL 10mM imidazole, 50mL 20mM imidazole and 25mL 40mM imidazole. Protein was eluted with 3x5mL 80mM imidazole and 3x5mL 320mM imidazole.

45mL SA buffer (20mM Tris, pH 7.0) was added to 5mL elution fractions containing FimHC. S column was equilibrated with 10% SB (20mM Tris, pH 7.0, 0.5M KCl). Protein was filtered using 0.2 micron filter and added to column. Column was successively washed with 20% SB, 40% SB, 80% SB and 100% SB.

Protein was concentrated using a 10K concentrator and stored in 20% glycerol, 20mM Tris, 150mM KCl.

Results

Mutation analysis of the *fimH* sequence in four representative CDEC isolates

To determine the presence of *fimH* mutations in AIEC isolates from the CDEC collection, *fimH* was sequenced in four representative strains of unique serotype isolated from three CD patients. We determined that two strains, BKC28-3 and BKC28-42 had an identical FimH primary sequence to NRG857c FimH. BKC28-1 possessed three mutations Ala25Thr, Ser70Asn and Asn78Ser and BKC28-21 possessed two mutations Ser70Asn and Asn78Ser. Thus, there is some diversity in the FimH sequence of AIEC isolates.

Strain	Strain	Serotype	Missense mutation
CDEC		(determined by	relative to NRG857c
designation		PHAC)	mature FimH sequence
			[NRGaa] aa#
			[CDECaa]
1-1-1	BKC 28-1	OR:H4	Ala25Thr, Ser70Asn,
			Asn78Ser
1-1-3	BKC 28-3	O6:NM	No change
2-1-1	BKC 28-21	O166:H15	Ser70Asn, Asn78Ser
3-1-2	BKC 28-42	OR:H31	No change
			_

Table 1. Mutation analysis in FimH sequence of selected CDEC isolates.

NRG857c FimC-His and K-12 FimC-His expression is inducible.

To confirm that FimC-His expression is inducible using the pCOLA-Duet vector, pNRGFimC-His and pK12FimC-His vectors were expressed in *E. coli* BL21-DE3. Protein expression was induced with IPTG and accessed via Western blot analysis using an anti-His antibody (Sigma). We did not observe any protein expression in the uninduced fraction indicating tight control of expression. After induction, we observed two bands at ~23 kDa corresponding to full-length FimC-His and 21 kDa corresponding to truncated FimC-His lacking the periplasmic signal sequence.



Figure 10. NRG857c FimC-His and K-12 FimC-His is inducible using a pCOLADuet-1 vector. IPTG-inducible expression of FimC encoding a C-terminal His tag was assessed by Western blot analysis. Uninduced and induced samples were probed with mouse anti-His antibody (1:2500, Sigma). Two bands at approximately 23 and 21 kDa were observed corresponding to cytoplasmic FimC (+ signal sequence) and periplasmic FimC (- signal sequence).

NRG857c FimH-FimC-His complex purification via Ni-NTA chromatography and cation exchange chromatography.

NRG857c FimH-FimC-His was expressed in *E. coli* BL21-DE3 following IPTG induction. Using a Ni-NTA column followed by an S column, the FimH-FimC-His complex was purified with few remaining impurities.



Figure 11. NRG857c FimH-FimC-His induction and purification. FimH (~30 kDa) and FimC-His (~23 kDa) were expressed in BL21-DE3 after IPTG induction. Lane 1 – Marker; Lane 2 – Uninduced sample; Lane 3 – Induced sample (A). Ni-NTA purification was initially used to purify NRG857c FimH-FimC-His. Lane 1 – Marker; Lane 2 – Lysate sample; Lane 3 – Flowthrough (FT); Lane 4 – 10mM imidazole FT; Lane 5 – 20mM imidazole FT; Lane 6 – 40mM imidazole FT; Lane 7 – 80mM imidazole elute 1; Lane 8 – 80mM imidazole elute 2; Lane 9 – 80mM imidazole elute 3; Lane 10 – 320mM imidazole elute 1; Lane 11 – 320mM imidazole elute 2 (B). The collected elute was then purified on an S column. Lane 1 – Marker; Lane 2-Lane 7 – 20% SB fractions; Lane 8 – Sample; Lane 9-10 – Blank; Lane 11 – Marker; Lane 12 – Sample; Lane 13 – FT; Lane 14-16 – 40% SB fractions; Lane 17-20 – 80% SB fractions.